Advances in Soil Science

SOIL PHOSPHORUS

Edited by

Rattan Lal

The Ohio State University Columbus, USA

B. A. Stewart

West Texas A&M University Canyon, USA



CRC Press is an imprint of the Taylor & Francis Group, an **informa** business

CRC Press Taylor & Francis Group 6000 Broken Sound Parkway NW, Suite 300 Boca Raton, FL 33487-2742

© 2017 by Taylor & Francis Group, LLC CRC Press is an imprint of Taylor & Francis Group, an Informa business

No claim to original U.S. Government works

Printed on acid-free paper Version Date: 20160216

International Standard Book Number-13: 978-1-4822-5784-7 (Hardback)

This book contains information obtained from authentic and highly regarded sources. Reasonable efforts have been made to publish reliable data and information, but the author and publisher cannot assume responsibility for the validity of all materials or the consequences of their use. The authors and publishers have attempted to trace the copyright holders of all material reproduced in this publication and apologize to copyright holders if permission to publish in this form has not been obtained. If any copyright material has not been acknowledged please write and let us know so we may rectify in any future reprint.

Except as permitted under U.S. Copyright Law, no part of this book may be reprinted, reproduced, transmitted, or utilized in any form by any electronic, mechanical, or other means, now known or hereafter invented, including photocopying, microfilming, and recording, or in any information storage or retrieval system, without written permission from the publishers.

For permission to photocopy or use material electronically from this work, please access www.copyright. com (http://www.copyright.com/) or contact the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. (CCC), 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, 978-750-8400. CCC is a not-for-profit organization that provides licenses and registration for a variety of users. For organizations that have been granted a photocopy license by the CCC, a separate system of payment has been arranged.

Trademark Notice: Product or corporate names may be trademarks or registered trademarks, and are used only for identification and explanation without intent to infringe.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Lal, R., editor, author. | Stewart, B. A. (Bobby Alton), 1932- editor, author. Title: Soil phosphorus / editors: Rattan Lal and B.A. Stewart. Other titles: Advances in soil science (Boca Raton, Fla.) Description: Boca Raton, FL : CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, [2016] | Series: Advances in soil science | Includes bibliographical references and index. Identifiers: LCCN 2016006729 | ISBN 9781482257847 Subjects: LCSH: Phosphorus in agriculture. | Soils--Phosphorus content. Classification: LCC S587.5.P56 S655 2016 | DDC 631.8/3--dc23 LC record available at http://lccn.loc.gov/2016006729 gbg

Visit the Taylor & Francis Web site at http://www.taylorandfrancis.com

and the CRC Press Web site at http://www.crcpress.com

11 Soil PhosphorusCycling in TropicalSoils: An Ultisol andOxisol Perspective

Sasha C. Reed and Tana E. Wood

CONTENTS

11.1	Introduction	247		
11.2	Soil Diversity and Phosphorus Cycling in the Tropics	250		
11.3	Soil Pedogenesis and the Development of Tropical Phosphorus Cycles	251		
11.4	Biological Interactions with the Tropical Soil Phosphorus Cycle	257		
	11.4.1 Biotic Strategies for Acquiring and Utilizing Soil Phosphorus	257		
	11.4.2 Plant and Animal Interactions with Soil Phosphorus	259		
	11.4.3 Nutrient Limitation	261		
11.5	The Temporally Dynamic Nature of Tropical Phosphorus Cycling			
	on Highly Weathered Soil	264		
11.6	Tropical Soil Phosphorus Cycling and Global Change	266		
11.7	Conclusions	269		
Acknowledgments				
References				

11.1 INTRODUCTION

Phosphorus (P) is essential for life. It is the backbone of our DNA, provides energy for biological reactions, and is an integral component of cell membranes. As such, it is no surprise that P availability plays a strong role in regulating ecosystem structure and function (Wassen et al. 2005; Elser et al. 2007; Condit et al. 2013) and in determining our capacity to grow food for a burgeoning human population (Sharpley et al. 1997; Sims and Sharpley 2005; Lal 2009). Concerns that P supplies are insufficient to meet growing demands of our species are on the rise (Tiessen 2001; Cordell et al. 2009; Richardson and Simpson 2011), and scientific and media outlets increasingly discuss P as an element worthy of our attention and concern (e.g., Cordell et al. 2009; Lougheed 2011; Edixhoven et al. 2013; Ulrich et al. 2013). Indeed, a number of groups are calling for the explicit stewardship of our planet's P stocks (Schipper 2014; Withers et al. 2015). Yet a focus on P as a vital and limited resource is not new in the tropics, where an abundance of soils characterized by low P has resulted in

TABLE 11.1

Tropical

Soil Taxonomy Order Distribution^a within the Tropics^b and Average Soil P Pool Sizes for Those Orders as Determined by the Hedley Fractionation Method

	•						
Order	10 ⁶ (ha)	Percentage (%)	Resin Inorganic P (mg/kg)	Bicarbonate Inorganic P (mg/kg)	Bicarbonate Organic P (mg/kg)	Apatite P (mg/kg)	Total P (mg/kg)
Entisols	1276	26.8	$40.27 \pm 9.63 \ (n = 9)$	$27.62 \pm 9.93 \ (n = 9)$	$284.19 \pm 46.80 \ (n = 9)$	$18.33 \pm 6.51 \ (n = 8)$	$579.68 \pm 30.05 \ (n = 9)$
Inceptisols	470	9.9	$35.90 \pm 9.88 \ (n = 9)$	$13.98 \pm 3.26 \ (n = 9)$	$63.96 \pm 23.94 \ (n = 9)$	$41.04 \pm 11.68 \ (n = 9)$	$491.71 \pm 89.58 \ (n = 9)$
Andisols	48	1.0	$63.33 \pm 40.92 \ (n = 3)$	$36.62 \pm 6.57 \ (n = 13)$	$179.61 \pm 30.98 \ (n = 13)$	$39.69 \pm 6.52 \ (n = 13)$	$903.07 \pm 107.80 \ (n = 13)$
Histisols	31	0.7	$38.68 \pm 12.45 \ (n = 5)$	$23.06 \pm 4.05 \ (n = 5)$	$28.88 \pm 14.06 \ (n = 5)$	$87.00 \pm 26.55 \ (n = 4)$	$628.60 \pm 134.17 \ (n = 5)$
Gelisols	1	0.0					
Aridisols	376	8.0	$22.12 \pm 4.78 \ (n = 14)$	$13.52 \pm 2.69 \ (n = 14)$	$244.57 \pm 35.78 \ (n = 14)$	$5.27 \pm 1.49 \ (n = 8)$	$411.54 \pm 64.18 \ (n = 14)$
Vertisols	206	4.4	$19.80 \pm 5.44 \ (n = 5)$	$14.80 \pm 7.07 \ (n = 5)$	$212.60 \pm 75.19 \ (n = 5)$	$6.75 \pm 0.85 \ (n = 4)$	$497.00 \pm 95.00 \ (n = 5)$
Mollisols	48	1.0	$19.33 \pm 1.81 \ (n = 43)$	$11.49 \pm 0.99 \ (n = 43)$	$169.05 \pm 11.53 \ (n = 39)$	$19.12 \pm 3.46 \ (n = 40)$	$552.77 \pm 23.33 \ (n = 43)$
Alfisols	561	11.9	$15.11 \pm 2.99 \ (n = 17)$	$13.15 \pm 2.97 \ (n = 17)$	$78.92 \pm 15.61 \ (n = 17)$	$14.71 \pm 2.43 \ (n = 17)$	$364.74 \pm 37.01 \ (n = 17)$
Spodosols	5	0.1	$18.45 \pm 2.48 \ (n = 11)$	$15.54 \pm 2.12 \ (n = 11)$	$30.84 \pm 13.51 \ (n = 6)$	$27.87 \pm 4.56 \ (n = 11)$	$292.90 \pm 38.86 \ (n = 11)$
Ultisols	757	16.0	$6.80 \pm 1.08 \ (n = 38)$	$5.85 \pm 0.72 \ (n = 38)$	$7.36 \pm 1.64 \ (n = 38)$	$11.66 \pm 1.19 \ (n = 38)$	$225.18 \pm 21.77 \ (n = 38)$
Oxisols	956	20.2	$3.62 \pm 0.47 \ (n = 11)$	$10.15 \pm 5.66 \ (n = 14)$	$0.90 \pm 0.22 \ (n = 14)$	$8.12 \pm 1.69 \ (n = 13)$	$193.35 \pm 35.39 \ (n = 14)$
Total	4726	100.0					

Source: Palm, C., Sanchez, P., Ahamed, S., and Awiti, A., Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 32, 99–129, 2007; Yang, X., and Post, W. M., Biogeosciences, 8, 2907–2916, 2011. With permission.

Note: Values shown are means ± standard error, and the number of values comprising the mean is shown in parentheses.

^a Estimates exclude areas not covered by soils (e.g., rocks, water bodies, shifting sands, ice).

^b Definitions: tropical, $<23.5^{\circ}$; temperate zone, 23.6° – 60° ; boreal, $>60^{\circ}$.

a substantial, long-standing reliance on P inputs for tropical ecosystem function in both unmanaged and agricultural settings (Table 11.1, Figure 11.1; Sanchez 1976; Swap et al. 1992; Chadwick et al. 1999; Okin et al. 2004; Lal 2009). Indeed, there is a long history of cultivation in the tropics, where for thousands of years land management practices have included methods that effectively modify P availability for plant growth (e.g., Sanchez 1976; Giardina et al. 2000; Lawrence and Schlesinger 2001; Vitousek et al. 2004; Tiessen et al. 2005; Lewis et al. 2015). Nevertheless, low soil fertility in tropical systems where fertilizer is scarce has long been recognized as a major source of hunger and starvation (Sanchez and Buol 1975; Sanchez 2002; Sanchez and Swaminathan 2005; Vitousek et al. 2009).

In addition to supporting the majority of the world's population (Vira et al. 2015) and biodiversity (Myers et al. 2000), tropical ecosystems store and exchange enormous amounts of energy and carbon (C) with the atmosphere (Brown and Lugo 1982; Foley et al. 2003; Beer et al. 2010; Pan et al. 2013). Accordingly, tropical ecosystems maintain a vast potential to create feedbacks to future climate at the global scale, and there is a growing interest in understanding P cycling interactions with tropical forest responses to environmental change (Silver 1998a; Townsend et al. 2011; U.S. Department of Energy 2012; Yang et al. 2014; Cavaleri et al. 2015; Reed et al. 2015).



FIGURE 11.1 (See color insert.) Distribution of soil orders among tropical/subtropical moist broadleaf forests (rain forests), all tropical, temperate, and boreal ecosystems, as well as globally. Estimates exclude areas not covered by soils (e.g., rocks, water bodies, shifting sands, ice), and soil order classifications are based on the USDA soil taxonomy system (Soil Survey Staff 1998). The sequence of the soil orders is arranged from less well-developed soils (upper part of the graph; e.g., Entisols) to more well-developed soils (lower part of the graph; e.g., Oxisols). Tropical areas are defined as $\leq 23.5^{\circ}$, temperate areas as 23.6° – 60° , and the boreal zone as $>60^{\circ}$. All data are from Palm et al. (2007), who determined the extent of the 12 soil orders of soil taxonomy and their geographical distribution using the USDA's Global Soil Regions dataset.

Now is an exciting time to evaluate our understanding of tropical P cycling in this context of change (e.g., climate change, land use change), and along with highlighting the diversity in tropical P cycling and synthesizing the fundamental aspects of the tropical P cycle in Ultisols and Oxisols, this is our goal for the chapter. In the coming sections, we will discuss the multiplicity of tropical soils, dive into soil chemical P cycling on numerous timescales, consider how P affects and is affected by tropical biota, and highlight considerations of P cycling and the interactions with other biogeochemical cycles in a framework of global change.

11.2 SOIL DIVERSITY AND PHOSPHORUS CYCLING IN THE TROPICS

The tropics is a region that encircles the equator, delineated in the north by the Tropic of Cancer (23°26'14.0" N) and in the south by the Tropic of Capricorn (23°26'14.0" S; Figure 11.2). These latitudes correspond with the planet's axial tilt, and the tropics include the areas of earth where the sun reaches a point directly overhead at least once during the solar year. While we often think of a *tropical climate* as being warm and wet, in reality, the tropics maintain a myriad of climates. For example, the tropics comprise not only earth's wettest ecosystems (e.g., rain forests near Lloró, Colombia, which average 12,892 mm of precipitation/year), but also its driest (the Atacama Desert, averaging 15 mm/yr). The temperature is also highly variable, and in conjunction with this large range in climate, biota and edaphic conditions greatly vary across the tropics. In fact,



FIGURE 11.2 Global map outlining the region between 23.26° latitude north (the Tropic of Cancer) and 23.26° latitude south (the Tropic of Capricorn). The lands within these bounds are known as the *Tropics* and include all of Central America, the Caribbean, and large portions of South America, Africa, Asia (particularly India, Southeast Asia, and Indonesia), and Australia.

of the 116 Holdridge life zones (a global bioclimatic classification scheme), the tropics contain more than the sum of all the other geographic regions combined (Holdridge 1967). The tropics contain hyperdiverse wet forests, arid deserts, alpine ecosystems, dry forests, wetlands and peat lands, and many other ecosystem types. In this way, there is no representative tropical ecosystem or tropical soil (Hilgard 1906; Sanchez and Buol 1975; Richter and Babbar 1991) nor any singular tropical P cycle.

Beyond the variations in climate, soil diversity in the tropics is driven by an extremely wide variety of parent materials, biota, landforms, geomorphic characteristics, and soil ages-the variation in these factors, each of which affects soils, is greater in the tropics than in the temperate zone (Sanchez 1976; Vitousek 1984; Richter et al. 1985; McGroddy et al. 2004; Porder et al. 2007; Townsend et al. 2008). The tropics maintain all 12 soil types of the USDA soil taxonomy system (Table 11.1, Figure 11.2; Natural Resources Conservation Service 2005; Palm et al. 2007), although Gelisols are notably rare. Moreover, while the number of soil types does not differ between tropical and temperate ecosystems, the relative abundance of particular soil types is quite distinct (Figure 11.2). For example, the tropics have a much lower abundance of fertile Mollisols (e.g., the soil that supports the "breadbasket" of America), as well as a much higher abundance of highly weathered Oxisols and Ultisols. This chapter focuses on these two soil orders that make up 36% of total tropical land area (16% and 20% of global soils, respectively; Palm et al. 2007). In addition, these two soil types comprise 62% of tropical rain forests, a biome that accounts for 17% of earth's land area and plays a disproportionately large role in global biogeochemical cycles (Palm et al. 2007; Townsend et al. 2011). Interestingly, these two prevalent soil types represent the latest stages of the soil pedogenic spectrum, which makes sense, as the extended time since glaciation and the relatively warm and wet climates found in many tropical forests are factors that result in highly weathered soils (Figure 11.3).

11.3 SOIL PEDOGENESIS AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF TROPICAL PHOSPHORUS CYCLES

Because all soil types are represented in the tropics (Table 11.1), models of soil development (pedogenesis) provide a powerful foundation on which to consider tropical soil P cycling and with which to contextualize the unique characteristics of highly weathered soils. In 1941, Jenny proposed five state factors that interact to determine the nature of a soil. This was captured in the iconic equation: s = f(cl, o, r, p, t), where the state of the soil system (*s*) is a function of climate (*cl*), organisms (*o*), relief (*r*), parent material (*p*), and time (*t*) (Jenny 1941). It has been stated that P is perhaps the key element of soil pedogenesis (Walker 1965), because a parent material is P's central source and because of P's ecological significance (Tiessen et al. 1984; Elser et al. 2007; Vitousek et al. 2010). In contrast to the cycles of C and nitrogen (N), which have significant gaseous components, the gaseous phase of P (phosphine gas [PH₃]) is notably rare. Phosphine gas has been measured under highly anaerobic conditions,



FIGURE 11.3 Graphical representation of the changes in the relative abundance of different soil P pools over the course of soil development. P_T = total soil P; P_{Ca} = calcium phosphates; P_O = organic P; $P_{occluded}$ = sorbed P (relatively unavailable to organisms); $P_{nonoccluded}$ = P in the soil solution (relatively available to organisms; often called labile P). The extent of weathering is driven by climate, type and abundance of organisms, topography, parent material characteristics, and amount of time weathering has occurred. Disturbances can also affect the rate and the nature of pedogenic change. The graphic is built of data from four soil chronosequences and shows that highly weathered soils (e.g., Oxisols) have less total P, higher relative proportions of $P_{occluded}$ and P_O , and very little available P ($P_{nonoccluded}$) relative to soils at earlier stages of soil development (e.g., Entisols). (Recreated from *Geoderma*, 15, Walker, T. W., and Syers, J. K., The fate of phosphorus during pedogenesis, 1–19, Copyright (1976), with permission from Elsevier; with kind permission from Springer Science+Business Media: *Phosphorus in Action*, Phosphorus cycling in tropical forests growing on highly weathered soils, 2011, 339–369, Reed, S., Townsend, A., Taylor, P., and Cleveland, C.)

such as sewage sludge, sediment soils, animal manure, marshes, and landfills; however, this form of P is thermodynamically unfavorable under most biogenic conditions and thus does not significantly contribute to the P cycle (Hanrahan et al. 2005). As such, it is the evolution and cycling of P within the soil system that plays the central role in determining soil P availability in terrestrial ecosystems (Figure 11.4).

Walker and Syers (1976) synthesized data from soil chronosequences to explore patterns in soil P pools in the context of pedogenesis and found that early in soil development, the majority of P is in primary mineral forms (Figure 11.3). As mineral P is weathered, it results in an increase in biologically available inorganic P (i.e., PO_4^{3-} ; unoccluded P). Some of this P is taken up by plants and microbes, while other P molecules are bound to secondary soil minerals with high P sorption capacities. *Sorption* broadly describes any process that removes a reactant from a solution, and P sorption represents the removal of P from the soil solution into less reactive geochemical sinks. In the highly weathered and acidic soils typical of tropical forests, crystalline and noncrystalline oxides of PO_4^{3-} (Parfitt et al. 1975; López-Hernández 1977; Schwertmann and Taylor 1977; Parfitt 1978; Hsu 1989). In contrast,

P mineralization—the conversion of organic P to inorganic P—returns organic P (as created by plants and microbes) to inorganic pools, which can then be readily utilized by the biota, sorbed onto the soil surfaces, or remain within the soil solution (Figures 11.4 and 11.5). Much of the variability in unoccluded P can be accounted for by organic forms of P, which suggests that P mineralization may be a major determinant of P fertility in these soils (Tiessen et al. 1984). Each turn of the P cycle can lead to P being sorbed to soil surfaces, precipitated, and/or lost via leaching in both organic and inorganic forms (e.g., Hedin 1995). Thus, as soil development reaches more advanced stages (i.e., Ultisols and Oxisols), the total amount of P in the system declines, and much of the P that is left is bound, insoluble, or physically protected in occluded forms (Table 11.1; Figure 11.3).

This decline over time in P obtained from parent material increases the relative importance of soil P inputs that occur from atmospheric dust and mineral aerosol deposition (Swap et al. 1992; Chadwick et al. 1999; Okin et al. 2004; Pett-Ridge 2009). Phosphorus can be transferred through the atmosphere over extremely long distances in the form of dust (Swap et al. 1992; Chadwick et al. 1999; Okin et al. 2004; Mahowald et al. 2005; Pett-Ridge 2009) and as ash from local biomass burning (Mahowald et al. 2005; Das et al. 2013). The importance of dust inputs to tropical ecosystems depends on the existing reservoir of P as well as the flux of dust being transported and deposited. Multiple studies suggest that atmospheric P inputs



FIGURE 11.4 (See color insert.) The P cycle, focusing on P pools (green ovals), inputs (blue rectangles), and loss (orange polygons). (Reproduced with permission from Wikipedia Creative Commons, en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Phosphorus_cycle.)



FIGURE 11.5 Conceptual model from Liptzin and Silver (2009) showing the relationship between Fe, O_2 , P availability, and carbon oxidation. During more anoxic periods (e.g., following precipitation events), bacteria reduce Fe (III) to Fe (II), oxidizing organic C into CO₂. At the same time, Fe-bound inorganic P (P_i) is released and may be quickly immobilized by roots and/or microbes. During periods when O_2 availability is higher, Fe (II) is oxidized to Fe (III) via biotic and/or abiotic reactions, and the Fe (III) oxides are again available to bind inorganic P. (Reprinted from *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 41, Liptzin, D., and Silver, W. L., Effects of carbon additions on iron reduction and phosphorus availability in a humid tropical forest soil, 1696–1702, Copyright (2009), with permission from Elsevier.)

to tropical forests may be critical for maintaining ecosystem productivity (Artaxo et al. 1988, 2002; Swap et al. 1992; Chadwick et al. 1999; Ben-Ami et al. 2010; Das et al. 2013). For example, some estimates have suggested that the high productivity of the Amazon rain forest is fueled, at least in part, by dust inputs originating from the Sahara/Sahel region in Africa (e.g., P inputs estimated at 1–4 kg/ha year; Swap et al. 1992). From a P pool perspective, dust inputs act to counteract the P-depleting effects of long-term weathering (Figure 11.4). Landscape dynamics can also counteract the P depletion of surface soils that are long removed from original parent material sources, resulting in higher quantities of rock-derived nutrients than would otherwise be predicted. In particular, geomorphic processes such as erosion and tectonic uplift have a strong potential to affect soils in general and tropical soil P cycling in particular. Erosion and tectonic uplift can rejuvenate such soils by bringing the parent material to the surface (Vitousek et al. 2003; Bern et al. 2005; Porder et al. 2007), and tropical ecosystems have some of the highest erosion and uplift rates on earth (White et al. 1998; Porder et al. 2007).

The chemistry of weathered tropical soils affects the mobility of soil P in unique ways. Both organic and inorganic forms of P are susceptible to sorption (e.g., Berg and Joern 2006), but the extent of this sorption is primarily influenced by soil mineralogy and the concentration, the chemistry, and the solubility of soil P (Smyth and Sanchez 1982; Singh and Gilkes 1991; Iyamuremye et al. 1996; Guppy et al. 2005; Reed et al. 2011a), as well as the competition with biological sinks (Uehara and Gillman 1981; Sollins et al. 1988; Olander and Vitousek 2004). In particular, the prevalence of 1:1 clays (e.g., kaolinite) and high concentrations of Al and Fe oxides

and hydroxides, which have a high affinity for P, are an interesting characteristic of many highly weathered tropical soils (Sanchez 1976; Harrison 1987; Sollins et al. 1988). Variable-charge clays maintain an electric charge that results from the protonation and the deprotonation of surface hydroxyl groups (Gillman 1984; White and Zelazny 1986), which occur at the edge of the 1:1 clays and Al and Fe hydroxides that dominate these soils. The charge of clay soils depends upon the soil pH, whereby small changes in pH can significantly affect the net charge of the soil and thus the mobility of anions and cations (Sollins et al. 1988). Accordingly, the mobility of P in highly weathered soils varies with soil pH, and unoccluded P may be less mobile in Ultisols and Oxisols than in soils dominated by clays with more permanent charge because permanent-charge clays typically maintain net cation exchange capacity (Gillman 1984). Fertilization studies on these soils have found high potential for P to be rapidly and nearly completely sorbed to the soil surfaces over short timescales (e.g., Sanchez 1976; Uehara and Gillman 1981; Oberson et al. 1997). Consequently, the concentrations of sorbed P often exceed that of P in the soil solution by several orders of magnitude (Sanchez 1976). However, while the process of P retention by Fe and Al oxides has been historically thought to exhibit low reversibility in highly weathered tropical soils, fluctuating redox potential common in the humid tropics can reduce Fe oxides when in the presence of labile C and humic substances. Such reduced soil conditions favor the remobilization of the geochemical or occluded pool of P, making this P once again biologically available (Figure 11.5; Chacon et al. 2006; Liptzin and Silver 2009).

The highly weathered, finely textured clay Ultisols and Oxisols that are high in Fe and Al oxides, combined with the high rainfall typical of the humid tropics, can limit the diffusive transport of oxygen (O₂). These circumstances lead to rapid fluctuations between reducing (low O₂) and oxidizing (high O₂) conditions (Silver et al. 1999; Shin 2005), which have the potential to release C and P that has been sorbed to the soil surfaces (Figure 11.5; Chacon et al. 2006; Liptzin and Silver 2009). There are several mechanisms that result in the release of P from geochemical pools under reducing conditions (Ponnamperuma et al. 1967; Gambrell and Patrick 1978; Chacon et al. 2006), which stem from bacteria obtaining energy by coupling the oxidation of organic matter (OM) to the reduction of different electron acceptors. Under anaerobic conditions, Manganese (Mn) and Fe oxides are the primary electron acceptors in soils (Lovley 1991). For example, as Fe oxides are converted to reduced forms, the phosphate anions chemically associated to Fe oxides are released (Figure 11.5; Baldwin and Mitchell 2000). Iron reduction is primarily fueled by the availability of organic acids of low molecular weight such as acetate (Kusel et al. 2002). While more complex organic substrates can also be used by Fe oxide reducers, it has been suggested that a very small percentage of these compounds and their reducing equivalents (less than 5%) are converted to Fe oxide (Lovley 1991). Humic substances also affect the patterns of Fe reduction and reoxidation in soils, whereby humic substances and quinones (oxidized derivatives of aromatic compounds) are used to shuttle electrons between electron donors and acceptors (Lovley et al. 1998). A high availability of labile C (C that is easily biologically available) combined with an abundance of the Fe-reducing bacteria typical of wet tropical forests is likely to stimulate these reactions (Liptzin and Silver 2009; Dubinsky et al. 2010). In summary,

the microbial reduction of Fe oxide can be an important mechanism for increased bioavailability of soil P in tropical forest soils (Figure 11.5; Chacon et al. 2006). There are also growing datasets that suggest that plants and soil microbes are able to directly access occluded P (Tiessen et al. 1984; Olander and Vitousek 2004; Richter et al. 2006). Regardless of the cause, the transfer of even modest amounts of P from the geochemical pool (i.e., occluded) to the soil solution can play an important role in maintaining soil P bioavailability (Chacon et al. 2006; Liptzin and Silver 2009).

McGill and Cole (1981) proposed a framework for OM decomposition that suggests P mineralization may also be largely decoupled from the mineralization of C and N. Within OM molecules, C and N are intricately bound (Asner 1997), but P is bound by phosphate ester bonds that phosphatase enzymes can independently mineralize. In this way, whether organisms mineralize organic substrates to obtain energy (in the form of reduced C) or N, mineralization of both elements occurs. In contrast, linkages between P limitation, phosphatase production, and P mineralization may be more direct because P mineralization can be relatively independent from the mineralization of C and N. Importantly, this decoupling may be particularly prevalent on highly weathered P-poor soils (McGill and Cole 1981).

Overall, the spatial heterogeneity of tropical forest soils can be viewed at two levels of organization: the geographic scale of hundreds to thousands of hectares (as described earlier) and the scale of landforms and patches that exist within this larger landscape (Webb et al. 1972; Scatena and Lugo 1995). At this finer spatial scale, local topography and drainage can substantially influence many soil characteristics that influence soil P availability, such as soil pH, soil organic matter (SOM), and exchangeable Fe (Figure 11.5). Research in tropical montane forests and in tropical forest watersheds suggests that higher landscape positions (e.g., ridge tops) are typically characterized as having higher SOM, lower pH, and higher concentrations of extractable Fe than lower topographic positions (e.g., valleys; Scatena and Lugo 1995). This variability in soil characteristics with topographic position can interact to affect soil P availability in complex ways. For example, in a wet tropical forest in Puerto Rico, soil P availability in the surface soils (0-10 cm) is correlated with forest age and not topographic position, and thus at this depth, P is likely primarily controlled by biological processes (Silver 1994; Scatena and Lugo 1995). However, when deeper profiles are considered (0-60 cm), the topographic position is the dominant control, with significantly higher biologically available soil P in valleys relative to the ridge tops (Scatena and Lugo 1995). Correlations between soil P availability and topographic position for the deeper profiles likely occur due to prevention of phosphate adsorption by organic anions (Fox 1982) and more acidic and oxic conditions in the higher topographic positions (ridges). In contrast, the lower topographic positions (valleys) likely experience altered P adsorption in soils with low Fe concentrations, more reducing conditions, and greater transport of P from higher topographic positions (Scatena and Lugo 1995). Taken together, these processes interact to increase the relative size of the P pool in subsoils located at lower topographic positions relative to higher positions (Silver 1994; Scatena and Lugo 1995). In line with the findings in Puerto Rico, biologically available P tends to increase from high to low topographic positions (e.g., Tsui et al. 2004; Porder et al. 2007; Werner and Homeier 2015). Many tropical species are often correlated with specific topographic

positions (Scatena and Lugo 1995), and foliar P concentrations also correlate with soil P variation across the landscape (Wood et al. 2006). Teasing apart the controls of geomorphology on the distribution of plants versus the effects of plants on soil P availability remains a significant challenge to the scientific community.

11.4 BIOLOGICAL INTERACTIONS WITH THE TROPICAL SOIL PHOSPHORUS CYCLE

11.4.1 BIOTIC STRATEGIES FOR ACQUIRING AND UTILIZING SOIL PHOSPHORUS

Soils are not the only component of ecosystems to evolve over long periods: organisms in tropical environments growing on P-poor soils have developed a phenomenal capacity for efficiently using and acquiring P. A central reason tropical organisms are able to maintain high activity in the face of low P availability (Table 11.1) lies in the fact that organisms in general—but especially in the tropics—have evolved a number of key nutrient conservation and acquisition strategies (e.g., Clark et al. 1999; Lambers et al. 2008). These strategies can vary along the pedogenic spectrum (Vance et al. 2003; Lambers et al. 2008; Reed et al. 2011a; Turner et al. 2013a; Ellsworth et al. 2015), as well as among species (Lambers et al. 2008; Reed et al. 2012; Mayor et al. 2014; Steidinger et al. 2015; Zemunik et al. 2015), and conservation strategies include increased growth per unit P (Vitousek 1984), reallocation of internal P (e.g., foliar P resorption prior to leaf senescence; Aerts 1996; Kitayama and Aiba 2002; Yuan and Chen 2009; Wood et al. 2011; Reed et al. 2012), and modifications in metabolism to minimize P-requiring steps (e.g., alternative glycolytic reactions that bypass ATP-requiring steps [Theodorou and Plaxton 1996; Uhde-Stone et al. 2003]). Plants also have mechanisms to maximize soil P acquisition. Phosphorus is much less mobile in the soil solution than most other major plant nutrients (Barber 1984), and P uptake is often assumed to vary in proportion to the surface area of the plant uptake organs involved. Thus, low P availability can be somewhat countered via symbiotic relationships and a number of morphological adaptations that increase root surface area, including mycorrhizal relationships, root hairs, and roots with unusual architecture (Figure 11.6; Lodge 1993; Aldrich-Wolfe 2007; Jansa et al. 2011). For example, some tropical plants make use of lateral roots that scavenge P from litter layers (Herrera et al. 1978; Stark and Jordan 1978; Cuevas and Medina 1986), which contain relatively high P concentrations. Other plants produce specialized root structures (e.g., cluster roots) that allow plants to mine insoluble forms of inorganic P from the soil: cluster roots produce large amounts of carboxylates, which release P from strongly sorbed forms (Figure 11.6; Lambers et al. 2008). Clusterrooted plants have been observed in many tropical forests, and many of the bestknown cluster-rooted species are found in western Australia, in soils with some of the most weathered and P-poor soils on earth (Figure 11.6). The fungal translocation of P through hyphal connections can also play an important role in conserving P in tropical forested ecosystems (Figure 11.6; Lodge et al. 2014).

Microbial organisms, including mycorrhizae, can solubilize P from occluded inorganic pools, transforming it into available P. By releasing strong organic acids, certain bacteria can liberate P from pools that are typically thought of as biologically



FIGURE 11.6 (See color insert.) Plant nutrient–acquisition strategies. (a) Mycorrhizal fungi extend beyond the root zone and greatly increase the volume of soil that can explored for P uptake. All mycorrhizas (arbuscular mycorrhizas, ectomycorrhizas, and ericoid mycorrhizas) are involved in the uptake of soluble inorganic P. Photo shows the hyphae of Glomus caledonium, an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus that in the picture is growing into the soil from a host root of the plant Trifolium repens. (Photo by Iver Jakobsen, reprinted with kind permission from Springer Science+Business Media. Mycorrhizal Ecology, Foraging and resource allocation strategies of mycorrhizal fungi in a patchy environment, 2003, 93-115, Olsson, P. A., Jakobsen, I., and Wallander, H.; reprinted from Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 23, Lambers, H., Raven, J. A., Shaver, G. R., and Smith, S. E., Plant nutrient-acquisition strategies change with soil age, 95–103, Copyright (2008), with permission from Elsevier.) (b) Root morphology helps plants access P from soil; for example, Proteaceae species that grow under extremely low P supply in highly weathered Australian soils have a number of root morphological adaptations. Shown here is a proteoid root cluster of *Banksia grandis*. (Photo by Michael W. Shane, reprinted from Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 23, Lambers, H., Raven, J. A., Shaver, G. R., and Smith, S. E., Plant nutrient-acquisition strategies change with soil age, 95–103, Copyright (2008), with permission from Elsevier.)

inaccessible (Bonan 1991; Bünemann et al. 2004; Olander and Vitousek 2004; Richter et al. 2006). These results are supported by data suggesting that microbial organisms can effectively compete with geochemical sinks for soil P (Olander and Vitousek 2004). At a global scale, the C:N:P ratios of both the soil (186:13:1) and the soil microbial biomass (60:7:1) are well constrained (Cleveland and Liptzin 2007), and evidence suggests the C:N:P of microbial biomass may lend perspective into questions of nutrient limitation in terrestrial ecosystems. When OM accumulates in an ecosystem, the soil C and N concentrations become increasingly decoupled from the total soil P concentration (McGill and Cole 1981). This observation may reflect a more efficient use of P released from the cycling of organic P pools in the mineral soil and the forest floor, rather than the weathering of inorganic P from primary minerals. Organic P pools are thought to be an important source for labile P in forest soils, especially for tropical forests (Johnson et al. 2003). Measured sitespecific microbial N:P ratios that diverge from the calculated average (i.e., 6.9 ± 0.4) may provide insight into the nature of nutrient limitation, at least within lowland tropical ecosystems. For example, relatively high measured microbial N:P ratios (suggesting P limitation) correspond with direct evidence that soil P availability limits microbial biomass, activity, and other ecosystem processes in a wet tropical forest in Costa Rica (Cleveland et al. 2002; Cleveland and Townsend 2006; Reed et al. 2007; Wieder et al. 2009).

11.4.2 PLANT AND ANIMAL INTERACTIONS WITH SOIL PHOSPHORUS

We know from temperate ecosystems that different plant species have the capacity to affect the chemistry of soil in species-specific ways: temperate forest research indicates a large interspecific variation in the effects of trees on soil properties (Zinke 1962; Gersper and Holowaychuk 1971; Binkley and Giardina 1998; Finzi et al. 1998; Hobbie et al. 2006). Factors such as volume and chemistry of stemflow, nutritional requirements of trees, organic chemistry of litter, and N2-fixing abilities affect how different tree species alter soils on micro- and mesoscales. An emerging body of work suggests that even in highly diverse tropical forests, tree species can affect the soil in which they live (Reed et al. 2008; Keller et al. 2013; Uriarte et al. 2015; Waring et al. 2015). For example, a recent study in Puerto Rico by Uriarte et al. (2015) found that most tree leaf litter fell less than 5 m from the source tree, which generated fine-scale spatial heterogeneity in leaf litter inputs, with significant implications for soil P cycling. Another study in Costa Rica observed strong correlations between canopy, litter, and soil P concentrations, such that species-specific differences in P were observable along a canopy-to-soil profile, suggesting a speciesgenerated P footprint (Reed et al. 2008). It is important to note the likelihood not only for tree species effects on soil chemistry, but also for soils to dictate the community composition (and thus community-level plant traits) and/or chemistry of trees (John et al. 2007; Condit et al. 2013). The two possibilities are not mutually exclusive nor is it new to recognize how difficult it is to tease apart these controls. For example, in his assessments of the drivers of soil development, Jenny himself recognized the issue, saying "Like everybody else I could see that the vegetation affects the soil and the soil affects the vegetation, the very circulus vititis that I was trying to avoid" (Jenny 1981).

These suggestions of vertical linkages between canopy and soil chemistries are also intriguing in the context of increasing remote-sensing capacity for assessing biogeochemical patterns and functions in diverse tropical forests. If we can use remote-sensing technologies to gain information about forest floor processes, the information would not only provide insight into direct nutrient controls over foliar function (e.g., Walker et al. 2014) but could also help quantify the spatial patterns of biogeochemical cycles occurring beneath the tree crowns. This provides hope that we can continue to distill the tropical forest biogeochemical complexity represented by hundreds of species per hectare (Townsend et al. 2008).

Ecosystem controls and effects are mediated through many trophic levels. For example, in a temperate forest common garden experiment, Hobbie et al. (2006) showed significant tree species effects on litter decomposition, with data suggesting that tree species controls were occurring, in part, through interactions between calcium concentrations and earthworm abundance. We know that animals can be affected by and affect soil P pools in tropical forests (Figures 11.7 and 11.8; McGlynn et al. 2007; Sayer et al. 2010; Hong et al. 2011; Marichal et al. 2011), and animals



FIGURE 11.7 (See color insert.) Photos showing the effect of animal activity on soil structure. (a) *Atta cephalotes* leaf cutter ant nest in Cockscomb Basin Wildlife Sanctuary, Belize. The photo shows the massive soil translocation ants create in building their nests in highly weathered tropical soils, as they move massive amounts of soil from deeper layers to the surface. (Courtesy of Matthew Meier.) (b) An earthworm cast produced by the tropical earthworm species *Amynthas khami* (which can grow up to 50 cm in length) in a rain forest in northeastern Vietnam. Casts are clumps of digested organic matter excreted by earthworms that aggregate into large and distinctive structures. (Reprinted from *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 43, Hong, H. N., Rumpel, C., Henry des Tureaux, T., Bardoux, G., Billou, D., Tran Duc, T., and Jouquet, P., How do earthworms influence organic matter quantity and quality in tropical soils? 223–230, Copyright (2011), with permission from Elsevier.) (c) Tall termite hills such as this one are common in highly weathered soils in West Africa. These hills represent large changes to soil structure and, likely, biogeochemical cycling. (Reproduced with permission from Wikipedia Creative Commons, https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki /File:Termite_hill_in_forest.jpg.)

have profound local effects on the spatial patterns in soil properties. Termites, ants, worms, and other soil fauna can mix and chemically alter vast volumes of soil material (Figure 11.7). For example, an assessment of surface soil (0-10 cm) P concentrations in a rain forest in Costa Rica suggested that ant (Atta cephalotes, a leaf cutter ant) mounds significantly alter extractable P pools in consistent ways (Figure 11.8). Because ants can drive substantial physical turnover of tropical soils, the effects of these organisms on tropical soil P are of significant consequence (Perfecto and Vandermeer 1993). Phosphorus can also regulate the activity of soil animals; for example, McGlynn et al. (2007) tested the effects of soil and litter nutrient stoichiometry on the invertebrate litter fauna of a Costa Rican tropical rain forest by assessing the animal densities from 15 sites across a P gradient. There was a significant variation in the density of the invertebrate litter fauna, which was strongly tied to soil and litter P concentrations: an increase in P concentrations related to an equally large increase in animal density. Interestingly, in a study of 87 species of rain forest ants, Kaspari et al. (2015) found that the P content of the ants was strongly correlated with the organisms' thermal tolerance. It has been hypothesized that ants active at high temperatures invest in P-rich machinery to buffer their metabolism against thermal extremes, and the P content of the ants varied threefold, with a temperature sensitivity that was lower and a thermal range that was higher in P-rich ant species. An improved understanding of how plants, soils, and animals interact in tropical forests to regulate P cycling is greatly needed.



FIGURE 11.8 Extractable soil P concentrations for highly weathered soils (0–10 cm depth) from La Selva Biological Station in Costa Rica. Soils were collected from active *Atta cephalotes* ant mounds (Active mound), from mounds that were no longer active (Abandoned mound), and from soils adjacent to both active and abandoned mounds (Control soil). Data show that ant activity significantly reduced topsoil P availability and that this reduction lasts even after the mounds are abandoned. Because *Atta cephalotes* are believed to turnover all the soil of this forest on only a 200–300 year timescale (Perfecto and Vendermeer 1993), this activity could represent an important control over the P cycle.

11.4.3 NUTRIENT LIMITATION

In relatively static ecosystems, the traditional view of tropical nutrient limitation to ecosystem processes, such as net primary production (NPP) and soil respiration, suggests that younger less well-developed soils would be limited by N, and older soils limited by P. Looking at the results from a chronosequence in Hawaii, which maintains ecosystems where it is possible to vary a single state factor while holding the rest relatively constant (Vitousek 2004), the transition from N limitation of tree growth on young soils to N and P colimitation on intermediate-aged soils to P limitation on old soils is clear (Vitousek and Farrington 1997). An analogous assessment of soil C cycling along the same chronosequence suggested that soil microbial growth and respiration were more affected by N at the youngest site and P at the oldest site, in line with the results observed aboveground (Reed et al. 2011b). Thus, the scarcity of P in many lowland forests and the tendency toward N limitation in tropical montane systems that typically grow on less well-developed soil make sense (Tanner et al. 1998; Adamek et al. 2009). A number of cross-forest comparisons also suggest a positive relationship between soil P and tropical forest aboveground and belowground biomass, decomposition, soil respiration, and soil fauna (Wardle et al. 2004; Paoli et al. 2005; Espeleta and Clark 2007; McGlynn et al. 2007; Cleveland et al. 2011; Baribault et al. 2012), as do results from some fertilization studies where additions of P stimulate these and other lowland tropical forest ecosystem pools and fluxes (Cuevas and Medina 1988; Reed et al. 2007; Wieder et al. 2009;

Alvarez-Clare et al. 2013). And these patterns fit into the concepts of retrogression (Peltzer et al. 2010), where in the absence of large rejuvenating disturbances over timescales of thousands to millions of years, ecosystem properties such as NPP, decomposition, and nutrient cycling rates undergo substantial declines (Wardle et al. 2004; Paoli et al. 2005; Espeleta and Clark 2007; McGlynn et al. 2007; Cleveland et al. 2011; Baribault et al. 2012). Phosphorus is suggested as a strong factor in structuring tropical productivity, soil C cycling, and plant community composition. For example, a study conducted in a seasonally dry tropical forest in Panama assessed the responses of 550 tree species to eight environmental factors across a number of climatic and geological gradients (Condit et al. 2013). These results showed that soil P was one of the two strongest predictors of community composition, together affecting the distribution of more than half of the species.

However, while multiple lines of evidence suggest that soil P cycling has a role in regulating aspects of tropical ecosystem structure and function, particularly in lowland forests growing on highly weathered soil (Figure 11.9), a number of studies in tropical lowland forests suggest that there is much more complexity need for considerations of how P and other nutrients regulate ecosystem functions (Mirmanto et al. 1999; Newbery et al. 2002; Kaspari et al. 2008; Wright et al. 2011; Alvarez-Clare et al. 2013; Powers and Peréz-Aviles 2013; Turner et al. 2013b; Mayor et al. 2014; Turner and Wright 2014). In other words, nutrient limitation in tropical ecosystems is not as simple as wholesale limitation by P, and changes in the availability of different nutrients may elicit distinct responses. For example, an investment in the acquisition of a nutrient may be greater when that nutrient is limiting to growth. A fertilization study in Hawaii found that P additions consistently reduced phosphatase activity, mycorrhizal colonization, and P uptake capacity across sites. In contrast, excess N



FIGURE 11.9 (See color insert.) Phosphorus availability on highly weathered soils can be a major constraint to agriculture in the tropics. (a) Adding P to nutrient-poor tropical soils can dramatically enhance crop production, and the picture shows the effects of P fertilization on plant growth in Brazil's cerrado. Maize plants in the background were fertilized with P, and they are much larger than the unfertilized maize plants in the foreground. (Courtesy of D.M.G. de Sousa.) (b) Some crops are much more commonly grown in the tropics than anywhere else on earth. Shown here is cassava farming in Nigeria where the International Institute for Tropical Agriculture. (Courtesy of Tunga Media, Niger State, Nigeria, http://tungamediang.com.)

was allocated to the construction of extracellular phosphatases to acquire P. Along these lines, a ³²PO₄ fertilization experiment in wet tropical forest found that P fertilization saturated the soils, which overwhelmed biological P demand, thereby reducing biological controls. In contrast, N fertilization increased the available P through reduced P sorption to the soil surface (Olander and Vitousek 2004). A long-term fertilization study in Panama also found a significant decline in phosphatase activity in response to fertilization (Turner and Wright 2014). The increase in phosphatase production and reduced P sorption in response to N fertilization implies that even P-limited systems might increase productivity in response to increased N availability and highlights the complex effects of nutrient availability on ecosystem processes (Treseder and Vitousek 2001; Vitousek et al. 2010).

A fertilization experiment by Alvarez-Clare et al. (2013) further illustrates the complexity of nutrient limitation in tropical forested ecosystems. This study used a $N \times P$ fertilization experiment in 30 × 30 m plots in a lowland rain forest in Costa Rica to show that after nearly 3 years, at the community scale, the growth of smaller trees (5–10 cm diameter at breast height) was doubled in plots receiving P, and seed-ling survival increased from 59 to 78%, with no effects of N addition on any characteristics measured. But P had no effect on litterfall productivity, root growth, or growth of intermediate (10–30 cm) or large trees (>30 cm). The effect of P also varied by plant species: *Pentaclethra macroloba*, the most abundant species at the site, did not increase growth rates with fertilization, but *Socratea exorrhiza*, the most abundant palm, had more than two times higher stem growth rates with P additions. Thus, while the research suggests soil P availability is indeed a significant driver of plant processes, it also highlights the importance of considering different aspects of the plant community (e.g., size class and species identity) when considering an overall framework of nutrient limitation.

Another complexity when evaluating nutrient limitation in terrestrial ecosystems is the form and the quantity of fertilizer utilized (Sayer et al. 2012). For example, microbes produce enzymes according to economic rules, whereby the microbial enzyme production increases when complex nutrients are abundant and simple nutrients are scarce; however, this response is also mediated by the availability of C and N (Allison and Vitousek 2005). A large-scale litter manipulation experiment conducted in a wet tropical forest in Costa Rica found a significant positive effect of litter addition on leaf litter production 5 months after application. The magnitude of the effect was significantly positively correlated with the total P added in litter form (Wood et al. 2006); however, a similar long-term litter manipulation experiment in Panama found no effect of litter addition on forest productivity (Sayer et al. 2012). This study did, however, find a significant effect of litter addition on the concentration of organic P in the soil (Vincent et al. 2010). It is also possible that the volume of aboveground biomass added in response to P fertilization could depend upon the concentration and the timing of P application.

Micronutrients (e.g., molybdenum) in addition to N and P may also exert important controls on tropical forest ecosystems. A long-term fertilization experiment in a tropical forest in Panama has consistently found that micronutrients (B, Ca, Cu, Fe, Mg, Mn, Mo, S, Zn), as well as N and P, can exert varied effects on ecosystem pools and processes (Kaspari et al. 2008; Wright et al. 2011; Santiago et al. 2012; Turner et al. 2013b; Mayor et al. 2014; Turner and Wright 2014; Wurzburger and Wright 2015). Although P was the only nutrient to increase soil microbial biomass or affect measured enzyme activities (Turner and Wright 2014), this fertilization study found no clear effect of P limitation on plant growth, root growth, or decomposition (Kaspari et al. 2008; Wright et al. 2011). This diversity of responses to P fertilization, both within and across tropical ecosystems, makes sense when considered in the context of multinutrient limitation (as well as limitation by other resources; Kaspari et al. 2008; Townsend et al. 2011) and reflects the heterogeneity of nutrient availability in soils across the biome and the tropics as a whole (Quesada et al. 2010; Cleveland et al. 2011). These results underscore that soil age alone is not sufficient to explain all the observed patterns in N versus P (or other nutrient) limitation and the importance of multiple processes for determining the balance of nutrient inputs, losses, and biological demand (Vitousek et al. 2010). Nevertheless, even with the advances made in our understanding of soil nutrient controls in tropical ecosystems over the last years, these results still represent a focus on only a handful of sites relative to the high within- and across-ecosystem diversities of the tropics. Clearly, more work is needed to understand how soil P and other nutrients help regulate the structure and the function of earth's tropical ecosystems. Finally, it is important to recognize that there are strong interactions among these nutrient cycles, such that P availability can affect N, for example, via N₂ fixation (Reed et al. 2011c; Wurzburger et al. 2012; Batterman et al. 2013; Reed et al. 2013; Nasto et al. 2014), and other nutrients can affect P (e.g., N stimulation of phosphatase activity; Marklein and Houlton 2012).

11.5 THE TEMPORALLY DYNAMIC NATURE OF TROPICAL PHOSPHORUS CYCLING ON HIGHLY WEATHERED SOIL

In addition to the high spatial heterogeneity of soil P, available soil P also exhibits a high temporal variation in tropical forested ecosystems, with the potential to substantially vary on timescales ranging from hours (Vandecar et al. 2011; Turner et al. 2003) to days (Wood et al. 2016) to months (McGrath et al. 2001). Temporal variation in biologically available P often correlates well with soil moisture availability, which can significantly fluctuate in tropical forested ecosystems, due to both short punctuated rainfall events and broad seasonal changes in rainfall (Singh et al. 1989; Lodge et al. 1994; Campo et al. 1998; McGrath et al. 2000; Wood and Lawrence 2008). These changes in soil moisture alter a suite of variables that are likely to affect the availability of P in tropical soils. For example, large rainfall events can drive abrupt spikes in soil moisture that stimulate rapid changes in soil chemistry (e.g., redox potential, pH, desorption of nutrients from minerals; Kieft 1987; Chacon et al. 2006; Liptzin et al. 2011; Vandecar et al. 2011; Hall et al. 2013; Wood et al. 2013), which, in turn, stimulates both microbial and plant activities (Kieft 1987; Singh et al. 1989; Tiessen et al. 1994; Cleveland et al. 2004). Decomposition rates are also correlated with soil moisture availability, and a large portion of available soil P is likely replenished via the decomposition of OM by microbes (Singh et al. 1989; Tiessen et al. 1994, Cleveland et al. 2013). Thus, increased soil moisture can result in P release via OM decomposition, and this P is made part of the available P pool. The time the P spends in the available pool depends upon immobilization, sorption, and leaching controls.

In addition to the effects of soil moisture availability, diurnal and seasonal changes in temperature can influence microbial decomposition rates, thereby releasing P bound in OM and increasing the amount of available P in the soil. While an increase in microbial mineralization rates increases the amount of available P, microbes also allocate resources to uptake and growth, which would instead immobilize labile P, thereby reducing its availability in the soil as microbial activity increases (Lodge et al. 1994; Cleveland et al. 2004). Furthermore, environmental controls on aboveground processes, such as plant photosynthesis, can stimulate root activity (Tang et al. 2005; Vandecar et al. 2009; Yuste et al. 2010). This increase in root activity can draw down labile P in the soil to meet the demands of the plant processes (Vandecar et al. 2009). Furthermore, sites with higher root density may facilitate greater labile soil P uptake and increase competition for P with the microbial community (Pregitzer et al. 1998; Vandecar et al. 2009, 2011).

As a whole, which of these processes exert primary control on labile P in the soils is not well understood, and there is evidence that the dominant controls may substantially differ among tropical forest sites along varied timescales. In more humid tropical forests, available soil P tends to be higher in the wet season (Cleveland et al. 2002; McGrath et al. 2001; Turner et al. 2013b; Wood and Silver 2012). In contrast, dry tropical forest sites have observed higher available soil P during dry season months (Singh et al. 1989; Campo et al. 1998; Srivastava 1997). The timing of high soil P availability, regardless of the soil moisture content, tends to correspond with times when the microbial biomass is also high (Singh et al. 1989; Cleveland et al. 2004; Turner and Wright 2014). Many theories have been put forth to explain these patterns: Soil P availability may be higher during the dry season months in seasonally dry tropical forests because (1) the demand by the vegetation is low, (2) P is stored in microbial biomass and then released upon the rewetting of soils (Singh et al. 1989), and (3) there is reduced loss of P due to low leaching in the dry season months (Campo et al. 1998). In humid forest soils, higher P availability in the wet season has been hypothesized to be due to (1) reducing conditions in the soil that release Fe-bound P (Chacon et al. 2006), (2) cloudier skies during wet season months that lower plant demand for P and thus uptake (3) higher P mineralization rates in the wet season (Campo et al. 1998; Wood and Lawrence 2008).

This raises the question of why we observe opposite effects of moisture on P in wet versus dry forests. There is increasing evidence to suggest that prior conditions play an important role in determining the fate of P in soil. Soil incubation experiments have found that the addition of water to wet soils results in rapid immobilization of available soil P (Campo et al. 1998; DeLonge et al. 2013). In contrast, the addition of water to dry soils results in the immediate release of available P (via microbial turn-over or mineralization; Campo et al. 1998; Turner and Haygarth 2001). The decomposer community could be contributing to observed changes; for example, fungi, microfungi, and bacteria vary in their response to moisture (Lodge 1993; Cornejo et al. 1994; Lodge et al. 1994). The periodicity and amplitude of redox oscillations could also play a role in determining the fate of P in tropical soils, with more stable conditions driving a decline in microbial diversity, changes in mineral reactivity, enzyme activity, as well as higher N losses from the soil system (DeAngelis et al. 2005; Pett-Ridge and Firestone 2005; Thompson et al. 2006; Hall and Silver 2013;

Hall et al. 2015). Taken together, these data suggest that P availability is varying on extremely fast timescales, and this dynamism has the potential to affect a myriad of aspects of tropical function and response to change.

11.6 TROPICAL SOIL PHOSPHORUS CYCLING AND GLOBAL CHANGE

Tropical forests exchange more CO₂ with the atmosphere than any other class of ecosystem (Foley et al. 2003; Beer et al. 2010), as well as accounting for over twothirds of the earth's living terrestrial plant biomass (Pan et al. 2013) and representing nearly one-third of all soil C stocks (Jobbagy and Jackson 2000; Tarnocai et al. 2009). Given this expansive amount of C, investigations of tropical forest response to environmental drivers will be critical for our understanding of future climate and biogeochemical cycling at the global scale. Tropical ecosystems also house the majority of the world's population, which makes them exceptionally important when considering change in these systems, including at local, regional, and pantropical scales (Lewis et al. 2015). However, the vulnerability of tropical ecosystems to climate-related change is poorly understood and a topic of much debate (Lloyd and Farquhar 2000; Lewis et al. 2009; Clark et al. 2013; Cox et al. 2013; Good et al. 2013; Randerson 2013). At the same time, a limited ability to characterize tropical responses to global change may represent our largest challenge in appropriately predicting the future climate of our planet (Bonan and Levis 2010; Huntingford et al. 2013; Piao et al. 2013). It is in this context that nutrient cycling may be central to improving our understanding of and capacity to predict tropical ecosystem response to global change.

Human activities have significantly affected each of the soil-forming state factors, with large implications for soil development and function (Amundson and Jenny 1991). The tropics are predicted to experience striking increases in atmospheric CO_2 concentrations, unprecedented changes in temperature, considerable modifications to the amount and the timing of rainfall (Diffenbaugh and Scherer 2011; Mora et al. 2013), and significant changes to N and P deposition (Matson et al. 2002; Mahowald et al. 2005; Peñuelas et al. 2012; Peñuelas et al. 2013; Carnicer et al. 2015; Houlton and Morford 2015). Each of these anthropogenic perturbations has the potential to markedly affect tropical soil P cycling, which, as discussed earlier, could affect numerous aspects of tropical ecosystem structure and function. However, the manner in which an ecosystem's P cycle will respond to anthropogenic perturbation will depend upon both the nature of the perturbation and the characteristics of the soil.

Soil nutrient availability may be at the heart of determining how tropical ecosystems will respond to global change (Silver 1998a; Cernusak et al. 2013; Yang et al. 2014; Cavaleri et al. 2015; Reed et al. 2015). Increases in nutrient availability (e.g., via fertilization) consistently increase the productivity of terrestrial plants of both managed and unmanaged ecosystems (Sanchez and Buol 1975; Sanchez 1976; Elser et al. 2007; Vitousek et al. 2009). Soil nutrient availability has also been shown to positively affect the rates of soil CO_2 efflux and microbial biomass growth (Reed et al. 2011b; Wood and Silver 2012). Indeed, a synthesis of data from 92 forests in different climate zones underscored the crucial role nutrient availability plays in determining

net ecosystem productivity, suggesting that nutrient availability exerted a stronger control over the net ecosystem productivity than that of C input (i.e., gross primary production; Fernández-Martínez et al. 2014). This result conflicts with assumptions of nearly all global coupled C cycle-climate models, which assume that C inputs via photosynthesis are the dominant driver of biomass production and C sequestration. In addition, results from past free-air CO₂ enrichment (FACE) studies that explored plant and soil responses to increased CO_2 showed that nutrient limitation strongly constrained plant responses, and the data suggested that nutrient limitation became progressively more extreme over time for plants experiencing elevated CO₂ (Luo et al. 2004; Norby et al. 2010; Johnson 2006). But none of these CO₂ experiments occurred in tropical ecosystems, and none focused on P (but see Huang et al. 2014; Crous et al. 2015; Hoosbeek 2015; Norby et al. 2016). Due to the lack of a significant gaseous phase, the P cycle may be less able to respond to increased plant demand in the face of elevated CO₂ (Reed et al. 2015), which would mean that P regulation of C cycling responses to global change could become increasingly pronounced (Yang et al. 2014). A recent study comparing modeling, satellite, and FACE experimental data indeed suggests that CO₂ fertilization effects on plants are potentially much lower than what models would predict, and nutrient limitation was cited as a key reason for this response (Smith et al. 2015).

Our understanding of how warming and altered precipitation patterns will affect tropical forests via effects on soil P cycling is also quite poor (Silver 1998b; Wood et al. 2012; Meir et al. 2015). Nevertheless, kinetic controls dictate that changes in temperature could result in strong effects on decomposition and nutrient mineralization rates, as well as changes in soil weathering. Indeed, warming has been shown to increase nutrient mineralization rates in other biomes (Robinson et al. 1997), and increased mineralization could increase nutrient losses via leaching, thereby lowering nutrient availability and constraining C cycling over the longer term (Lodge et al. 1994). If warming initially increases and then drives down nutrient availability, processes such as microbial respiration and decomposition could become slow due to nutrient limitation (Hobbie and Vitousek 2000; Reed et al. 2011b). Reduced rainfall in tropical regions could significantly affect P cycling in tropical forest ecosystems. For example, experimental reduction of soil moisture in a wet tropical forest in Puerto Rico led to significantly reduced soil P availability, likely due to increased soil aeration and sorption of P to Fe oxides in the soil (Wood and Silver 2012). Changes in the patterns of rainfall could generate complex effects on soil P cycling. As discussed earlier, prior soil conditions matter, whereby the rewetting of dry soils compared with the wetting of soils that are already wet led to different fates of P in the soil. Furthermore, tropical microbes have the potential to adapt to preexposure to dry conditions (Bouskill et al. 2013), further adapting as wetting and drying cycles intensify (Evans and Wallenstein 2014).

In addition to CO_2 and climatic changes, human-induced changes to nutrient inputs, for example, N deposition, have the potential to both directly and indirectly affect tropical soil P cycling. These changes can stem not only from the differences in the absolute input of any single element (e.g., increased N or P deposition) but also from an imbalance in the relative proportions of these inputs (Peñuelas et al. 2012, 2013). However, our understanding of these effects and their controls remain notably poor, and studies of coupled biogeochemical cycles in the context of change and stoichiometric perspectives offer an exciting line of tropical research.

As the human population continues to grow, the demand for agricultural productivity to meet the increasing demand for food and biofuel production will likely lead to the intensification of agricultural practices, particularly in tropical regions (Coomes et al. 2000; Tilman et al. 2002; Laurance et al. 2014; Smith et al. 2014; Lal 2015). Intensification of agriculture occurs in three ways: (1) expansion of the land area used, (2) increase in the frequency that a given area is used, and (3) intensification of the management controls (Trenbath et al. 1990). Changes to agricultural practices have been found to affect soil P availability. For example, changes to timing whereby the number of crop cycles are increased and the period the forest is allowed to recover (fallow) is reduced, has been found to reduce P availability in tropical soils (Arnason et al. 1982; Fujisaka 1991). These shorter fallow periods are thought to facilitate the loss of P from the system via soil mining and accelerated erosion (Fujisaka 1991; Mertz 2002) and could ultimately reduce the efficacy of this land management technique (e.g., Jakovac et al. 2015). In systems that utilize shifting agriculture, the timing of slashing and burning is also critical and also affects soil P cycling. Biomass is cut, left to dry, and burned just prior to the start of the wet season. The timing of slashing is important for allowing sufficient time for the biomass to dry, and the timing of burning is timed to minimize the loss of P in ash that can be blown off of the land surface and to maximize the plant growth and uptake of nutrients. In these agricultural systems, and many others, farmers rely on historical experience to determine the timing of slashing, burning, and planting (Ewel 1986). Changes in precipitation patterns could have significant effects on the efficacy of these practices as historical knowledge may no longer clearly inform land management decision-making. In addition to the intensification of cultivation practices, the increasing demand for agricultural lands has also led to the expansion of agriculture into areas previously considered lower quality.

Secondary forests (forests regenerating following land use conversion) in the tropics currently comprise more land area than that of their old growth counterparts. The legacy of land use drives profound changes in the community composition and the soil nutrient cycles of these secondary forests, and the trajectory of their recovery is influenced by P cycling. For example, Davidson et al. (2007) showed that after agricultural abandonment, secondary tropical forests on highly weathered soils may transition from N limitation near to the time of abandonment to P limitation as the forests reach later stages of succession. Over the course of succession, N became relatively more available and P relatively less available. Of course, this trajectory would be expected to differ depending on the type and the intensity of prior land use. For instance, the intensification of shifting cultivation currently occurring across the tropics was recently found to significantly reduce secondary forest resilience (Jakovac et al. 2015), which may be exacerbated by a slow recovery of P as land use intensifies.

11.7 CONCLUSIONS

Phosphorus availability is a critical component determining terrestrial ecosystem structure and function, particularly for ecosystems growing on highly weathered soils (i.e., Ultisols, Oxisols). Due to the effects of extensive weathering, these soils maintain unique soil P traits, and the specialized manner in which the soils cycle P has cascading effects on numerous aspects of the ecosystems themselves. For example, the availability of soil P has been linked with plant community composition, NPP, and a wide range of fundamental soil processes (e.g., OM decomposition, soil respiration, N₂ fixation, C, N, and P-related enzyme activity). Moreover, agriculture in the tropics is an increasingly important component of providing food for our growing human population, and effectively managing tropical soils in this context is at the heart of agricultural success. Even in unmanaged tropical ecosystems, due to the massive amounts of C, water, and energy exchanged between the tropical forest biosphere and the atmosphere, it is critical to understand the role P plays in determining the tropical responses to global change factors, such as increasing atmospheric CO₂ and climate change. Nevertheless, our understanding of tropical soil P cycling remains notably incomplete, particularly in the context of global change, although the implications of these multielement connections are large. As highlighted in this chapter, the scientific community has made great strides in our understanding of the P cycle on highly weathered tropical soils, but our ability to measure, scale, and forecast ecosystem functions in tropical ecosystems lags behind that of many other biomes. Further, the exceptional diversity and biogeochemical variation at multiple scales in the tropics complicates this task. Taken together, the data suggest that a soil perspective is a solid foundation on which to build an improved understanding of the tropical P cycle.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

S. C. R. and T. E. W. are exceptionally grateful to Cory Cleveland, Alan Townsend, Peter Vitousek, Deborah Lawrence, DJ Lodge, Whendee Silver, Stephen Porder, Ben Turner, Ariel Lugo, and Xiaojuan Yang for research and perspectives that have shaped their understanding of the phosphorus cycle. Finally, S. C. R. and T. E. W. owe a debt of gratitude to Jessica Metcalf and Nataly Ascarrunz for improvements on previous drafts of the chapter, and to the following agencies for supporting their tropical phosphorus research: National Science Foundation, Andrew W. Mellon Foundation, National Center for Ecological Analysis and Synthesis (NCEAS), U.S. Geological Survey Powell Center for Analysis and Synthesis, U.S.D.A. Forest Service International Institute of Tropical Forestry, Department of Energy Terrestrial Ecosystem Science Program, and U.S. Geological Survey Ecosystems Mission Area. Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

REFERENCES

- Adamek, M., Corre, M. D., and Hölscher, D. (2009). Early effect of elevated nitrogen input on above-ground net primary production of a lower montane rain forest, Panama. *Journal* of Tropical Ecology, 25(06), 637–647.
- Aerts, R. (1996). Nutrient resorption from senescing leaves of perennials: Are there general patterns? *Journal of Ecology*, 84, 597–608.
- Aldrich-Wolfe, L. (2007). Distinct mycorrhizal communities on new and established hosts in a transitional tropical plant community. *Ecology*, 88, 559–566.
- Allison, S. D., and Vitousek, P. M. (2005). Responses of extracellular enzymes to simple and complex nutrient inputs. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 37, 937–944.
- Alvarez-Clare, S., Mack, M. C., and Brooks, M. (2013). A direct test of nitrogen and phosphorus limitation to net primary productivity in a lowland tropical wet forest. *Ecology*, 94, 1540–1551.
- Amundson, R., and Jenny, H. (1991). The place of humans in the state factor theory of ecosystems and their soils. *Soil Science*, *151*(1), 99–109.
- Arnason, T., Lambert, J. D. H., Gale, J., Cal, J., and Vernon, H. (1982). Decline of soil fertility due to intensification of land use by shifting agriculturists in Belize, Central America. *Agro-ecosystems*, 8, 27–37.
- Artaxo, P., Martins, J. V., Yamasoe, M. A., Procópio, A. S., Pauliquevis, T. M., Andreae, M. O., Guyon, P., Gatti, L. V., and Leal, A. M. C. (2002). Physical and chemical properties of aerosols in the wet and dry seasons in Rondônia, Amazonia. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 107(D20).
- Artaxo, P., Storms, H., Bruynseels, F., Van Grieken, R., and Maenhaut, W. (1988). Composition and sources of aerosols from the Amazon Basin. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 93(D2), 1605–1615.
- Asner, G. P. (1997). The decoupling of terrestrial carbon and nitrogen cycles. *BioScience*, 47(4), 226–234.
- Baldwin, D. S., and Mitchell, A. M. (2000). The effects of drying and re-flooding on the sediment and soil nutrient dynamics of lowland river–floodplain systems: A synthesis. *Regul. Rivers: Res. Mgmt.*, 16, 457–467. doi: 10.1002/1099-1646(200009/10)16:5 <457::AID-RRR597>3.0.CO;2-B.
- Barber, S. (1984). Soil Nutrient Bioavailability. New York: Wiley.
- Baribault, T. W., Kobe, R. K., and Finley, A. O. (2012). Tropical tree growth is correlated with soil phosphorus, potassium, and calcium, though not for legumes. *Ecological Monographs*, 405, 189–203.
- Batterman, S. A., Wurzburger, N., and Hedin, L. O. (2013). Nitrogen and phosphorus interact to control tropical symbiotic N₂ fixation: A test in *Inga punctata. Journal of Ecology*, 101(6), 1400–1408.
- Beer, C., Reichstein, M., Tomelleri, E., Ciais, P., Jung, M., Carvalhais, N., Rödenbeck, C. et al. (2010). Terrestrial gross carbon dioxide uptake: Global distribution and covariation with climate. *Science*, 329, 834–838.
- Ben-Ami, Y., Koren, I., Rudich, Y., Artaxo, P., Martin, S. T., and Andreae, M. O. (2010). Transport of North African dust from the Bodélé depression to the Amazon Basin: A case study. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 10(16), 7533–7544.
- Berg, A., and Joern, B. (2006). Sorption dynamics of organic and inorganic phosphorus compounds in soil. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 35(5), 1855–1862.
- Bern, C. R., Townsend, A. R., and Farmer, G. L. (2005). Unexpected dominance of parentmaterial strontium in a tropical forest on highly weathered soils. *Ecology*, 86, 626–632.
- Binkley, D., and Giardina, C. (1998). Why do tree species affect soils? The warp and woof of tree-soil interactions. *Biogeochemistry*, 42(1–2), 89–106.

- Bonan, G., and Levis, S. (2010). Quantifying carbon-nitrogen feedbacks in the Community Land Model (CLM4). *Geophysical Research Letters*, 37, L07401.
- Bouskill, N. J., Lim, H. C., Borglin, S., Salve, R., Wood, T. E., Silver, W. L., and Brodie, E. L. (2013). Pre-exposure to drought increases the resistance of tropical forest soil bacterial communities to extended drought. *The ISME Journal*, 7(2), 384–394.
- Brown, S., and Lugo, A. E. (1982). The storage and production of organic matter in tropical forests and their role in the global carbon cycle. *Biotropica*, *14*, 161–187.
- Bünemann, E. K., Steinebrunner, F., Smithson, P. C., Frossard, E., and Oberson, A. (2004). Phosphorus dynamics in a highly weathered soil as revealed by isotopic labeling techniques. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 68(5), 1645–1655.
- Campo, J., Jaramillo, V. J., and Maass, J. M. (1998). Pulses of soil phosphorus availability in a Mexican tropical dry forest: Effects of seasonality and level of wetting. *Oecologia*, 115(1–2), 167–172.
- Carnicer, J., Sardans, J., Stefanescu, C., Ubach, A., Bartrons, M., Asensio, D., and Peñuelas, J. (2015). Global biodiversity, stoichiometry and ecosystem function responses to humaninduced C–N–P imbalances. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 172, 82–91.
- Cavaleri, M., Reed, S., Smith, W., and Wood, T. (2015). Urgent need for warming experiments in tropical forests. *Global Change Biology*, *21*, 2111–2121.
- Cernusak, L. A., Winter, K., Dalling, J. W., Holtum, J. A., Jaramillo, C., Körner, C., Leakey, A. D. et al. (2013). Tropical forest responses to increasing atmospheric CO₂: Current knowledge and opportunities for future research. *Functional Plant Biology*, 40(6), 531–551.
- Chacon, N., Silver, W. L., Dubinsky, E. A., and Cusack, D. F. (2006). Iron reduction and soil phosphorus solubilization in humid tropical forests soils: The roles of labile carbon pools and an electron shuttle compound. *Biogeochemistry*, 78(1), 67–84.
- Chadwick, O., Derry, L., Vitousek, P. M., Huebert, B., and Hedin, L. (1999). Changing sources of nutrients during four million years of ecosystem development. *Nature*, 397, 491–497.
- Clark, D., Clark, D., and Oberbauer, S. (2013). Field-quantified responses of tropical rainforest aboveground productivity to increasing CO₂ and climatic stress, 1997–2009. *Journal* of Geophysical Research-Biogeosciences, 118, 1–12.
- Clark, D. B., Palmer, M. W., and Clark, D. A. (1999). Edaphic factors and the landscape scale distributions of tropical rain forest trees. *Ecology*, 80(8), 2662–2675.
- Cleveland, C. C., Houlton, B. Z., Smith, W. K., Marklein, A. R., Reed, S. C., Parton, W., Running, S. W. et al. (2013). Patterns of new versus recycled primary production in the terrestrial biosphere. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(31), 12733–12737.
- Cleveland, C. C., and Liptzin, D. (2007). C: N: P stoichiometry in soil: Is there a "Redfield ratio" for the microbial biomass? *Biogeochemistry*, 85(3), 235–252.
- Cleveland, C. C., and Townsend, A. R. (2006). Nutrient additions to a tropical rain forest drive substantial soil carbon dioxide losses to the atmosphere. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *103*, 10316–10321.
- Cleveland, C. C., Townsend, A. R., Constance, B. C., Ley, R. E., and Schmidt, S. K. (2004). Soil microbial dynamics in Costa Rica: Seasonal and biogeochemical constraints. *Biotropica*, 36(2), 184–195.
- Cleveland, C. C., Townsend, A. R., and Schmidt, S. K. (2002). Phosphorus limitation of microbial processes in moist tropical forests: Evidence from short-term laboratory incubations and field studies. *Ecosystems*, 5(7), 680–691.
- Cleveland, C. C., Townsend, A. R., Taylor, P., Alvarez-Clare, S., Bustamante, M., Chuyong, G., Dobrowski, S. Z. et al. (2011). Relationships among net primary productivity, nutrients and climate in tropical rain forest: A pan-tropical analysis. *Ecology Letters*, 14(9), 939–947.

- Condit, R., Engelbrecht, B. M. J., Pino, D., Pérez, R., and Turner, B. L. (2013). Species distributions in response to individual soil nutrients and seasonal drought across a community of tropical trees. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(13), 5064–5068.
- Coomes, O. T., Grimard, F., and Burt, G. J. (2000). Tropical forests and shifting cultivation: Secondary forest fallow dynamics among traditional farmers of the Peruvian Amazon. *Ecological Economics*, *32*, 109–124.
- Cordell, D., Drangert, J., and White, S. (2009). The story of phosphorus: Global food security and food for thought. *Global Environmental Change*, *19*, 292–305.
- Cornejo, F. H., Varela, A., and Wright, S. J. (1994). Tropical forest litter decomposition under seasonal drought: Nutrient release, fungi and bacteria. *Oikos*, 183–190.
- Cox, P., Pearson, D., Booth, B., Friedlingstein, P., Huntingford, C., Jones, C., and Luke, C. M. (2013). Sensitivity of tropical carbon to climate change constrained by carbon dioxide variability. *Nature*, 494, 341–344.
- Crous, K. Y., Ósvaldsson, A., and Ellsworth, D. S. (2015). Is phosphorus limiting in a mature Eucalyptus woodland? Phosphorus fertilisation stimulates stem growth. *Plant and Soil*, 391(1–2), 293–305.
- Cuevas, E., and Medina, E. (1986). Nutrient dynamics within Amazonian forest ecosystems: I. Nutrient flux in fine litter fall and efficiency of nutrient utilization. *Oecologia 68*, 466–472.
- Cuevas, E., and Medina, E. (1988). Nutrient dynamics with Amazonian forests: II. Fine root growth, nutrient availability, and leaf litter decomposition. *Oecologia*, 76, 222–235.
- Das, R., Evan, A., and Lawrence, D. (2013). Contributions of long-distance dust transport to atmospheric P inputs in the Yucatan Peninsula. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 27, 167–175.
- Davidson, E. A., de Carvalho, C. J. R., Figueira, A. M., Ishida, F. Y., Ometto, J. P. H., Nardoto, G. B., Sabá, R. T. et al. (2007). Recuperation of nitrogen cycling in Amazonian forests following agricultural abandonment. *Nature*, 447(7147), 995–998.
- DeAngelis, K. M., Ji, P., Firestone, M. K., and Lindow, S. E. (2005). Two novel bacterial biosensors for detection of nitrate availability in the rhizosphere. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(12), 8537–8547.
- DeLonge, M., Vandecar, K. L., D'Odorico, P., and Lawrence, D. (2013). The impact of changing moisture conditions on short-term P availability in weathered soils. *Plant and Soil*, 365(1–2), 201–209.
- Diffenbaugh, N. S., and Scherer, M. (2011). Observational and model evidence of global emergence of permanent, unprecedented heat in the 20th and 21st centuries. *Climatic Change*, *107*(3–4), 615–624.
- Dubinsky, E. A., Silver, W. L., and Firestone, M. K. (2010). Tropical forest soil microbial communities couple iron and carbon biogeochemistry. *Ecology*, 91(9), 2604–2612.
- Edixhoven, J. D., Gupta, J., and Savenije, H. H. G. (2013). Recent revisions of phosphate rock reserves and resources: Reassuring or misleading? An in-depth literature review of global estimates of phosphate rock reserves and resources. *Earth Systems Dynamics* 4, 1005–1034.
- Ellsworth, D., Crous, K., Lambers, H., and Cooke, J. (2015). Phosphorus recycling in photorespiration maintains high photosynthetic capacity in woody species. *Plant, Cell and Environment, 38*, 1142–1156.
- Elser, J., Bracken, M. E., Cleland, E. E., Gruner, D. S., Harpole, W. S., Hillebrand, H., Ngai, J. T., Seabloom, E. W., Shurin, J. B., and Smith, J. E. (2007). Global analysis of nitrogen and phosphorus limitation of primary producers in freshwater, marine and terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecology Letters*, 10(12), 1135–1142.
- Espeleta, J., and Clark, D. A. (2007). Multi-scale variation in fine-root biomass in a tropical rain forest: A seven-year study. *Ecological monographs*, 77(3), 377–404.

- Evans, S. E., and Wallenstein, M. D. (2014). Climate change alters ecological strategies of soil bacteria. *Ecology Letters*, 17(2), 155–164.
- Ewel, J. J. (1986). Designing agricultural ecosystems for the humid tropics. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 245–271.
- Fernández-Martínez, M., Vicca, S., Janssens, I. A., Sardans, J., Luyssaert, S., Campioli, M., Chapin III, F.S. et al. (2014). Nutrient availability as the key regulator of global forest carbon balance. *Nature Climate Change*, 4(6), 471–476.
- Finzi, A. C., Van Breemen, N., and Canham, C. D. (1998). Canopy tree-soil interactions within temperate forests: Species effects on soil carbon and nitrogen. *Ecological applications*, 8(2), 440–446.
- Foley, J. A., Costa, M. H., Delire, C., Ramankutty, N., and Snyder, P. (2003). Green surprise: How terrestrial ecosystems could affect earth's climate. *Frontiers in Ecology and Environment*, 1, 38–44.
- Fox, R. L. (1982). Some highly weathered soils of Puerto Rico: 3. Chemical properties. *Geoderma*, 27(1), 139–176.
- Fujisaka, S. (1991). A diagnostic survey of shifting cultivation in northern Laos: Targeting research to improve sustainability and productivity. *Agroforestry Systems*, 13, 95–109.
- Gambrell, R. P., and Patrick, W. H. (1978). Chemical and microbiological properties of anaerobic soils and sediments. In Hook, D. D., and Crawford, R. M. M. (Eds.), *Plant Life in Anaerobic Environments* (pp. 233–247). Ann Arbor, MI: Ann Arbor Science Publishing. Inc.
- Gersper, P. L., and Holowaychuk, N. (1971). Some effects of stem flow from forest canopy trees on chemical properties of soils. *Ecology*, 52, 691–702.
- Giardina, C. P., Sanford, R. L., and Døckersmith, I. C. (2000). Changes in soil phosphorus and nitrogen during slash-and-burn clearing of a dry tropical forest. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 64, 399–405.
- Gillman, G. (1984). Using variable charge characteristics to understand the exchangeable cation status of oxic soils. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 22, 71–80.
- Good, P., Jones, C., Lowe, J., Betts, R., and Gedney, N. (2013). Comparing tropical forest projections from two generations of Hadley Centre Earth System Models, HadGEM2-ES and HadCM3LC. *Journal of Climate*, 26, 495–511.
- Guppy, C. N., Menzies, N. W., Moody, P. W., and Blamey, F. P. C. (2005). Competitive sorption reactions between phosphorus and organic matter in soil: A review. *Soil Research*, 43(2), 189–202.
- Hall, S. J., McDowell, W. H., and Silver, W. L. (2013). When wet gets wetter: Decoupling of moisture, redox biogeochemistry, and greenhouse gas fluxes in a humid tropical forest soil. *Ecosystems*, 16(4), 576–589.
- Hall, S. J., and Silver, W. L. (2013). Iron oxidation stimulates organic matter decomposition in humid tropical forest soils. *Global Change Biology*, 19(9), 2804–2813.
- Hall, S. J., Silver, W. L., Timokhin, V. I., and Hammel, K. E. (2015). Lignin decomposition is sustained under fluctuating redox conditions in humid tropical forest soils. *Global Change Biology*, 21(7), 2818–2828.
- Hanrahan, G., Salmassi, T. M., Khachikian, C. S., and Foster, K. L. (2005). Reduced inorganic phosphorus in the natural environment: Significance, speciation and determination. *Talanta*, 66, 435–444.
- Harrison, A. (1987). Soil Organic Phosphorus: A Review of World Literature. Wallingford: CAB International.
- Hedin, L. O. (1995). Patterns of nutrient loss from unpolluted, old-growth temperate forests: Evaluation of biogeochemical theory. *Ecology*, *76*, 493–509.
- Herrera, R., Merida, T., Stark, N., and Jordan, C. F. (1978). Direct phosphorus transfer from leaf litter to roots. *Naturwissenschaften* 65, 208–209.
- Hilgard, E. W. (1906). Soils. London: Macmillan.

- Hobbie, S. E., Reich, P. B., Oleksyn, J., Ogdahl, M., Zytkowiak, R., Hale, C., and Karolewski, P. (2006). Tree species effects on decomposition and forest floor dynamics in a common garden. *Ecology*, 87(9), 2288–2297.
- Hobbie, S. E., and Vitousek, P. M. (2000). Nutrient limitation of decomposition in Hawaiian forests. *Ecology*, 81(7), 1867–1877.
- Holdridge, L. (1967). Life Zone Ecology. San Jose: Centro Científico Tropical.
- Hong, H. N., Rumpel, C., Henry des Tureaux, T., Bardoux, G., Billou, D., Tran Duc, T., and Jouquet, P. (2011). How do earthworms influence organic matter quantity and quality in tropical soils? *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 43(2), 223–230.
- Hoosbeek, M. R. (2015). Elevated CO₂ increased phosphorous loss from decomposing litter and soil organic matter at two FACE experiments with trees. *Biogeochemistry*, 127, 1–9.
- Houlton, B., and Morford, S. (2015). A new synthesis for terrestrial nitrogen inputs. *SOIL*, *1*, 381–397.
- Hsu, P. H. (1989). Aluminum hydroxides and oxyhydroxides. *Minerals in Soil Environments*, 2, 331–378.
- Huang, W., Zhou, G., Liu, J., Duan, H., Liu, X., Fang, X., and Zhang, D. (2014). Shifts in soil phosphorus fractions under elevated CO₂ and N addition in model forest ecosystems in subtropical China. *Plant Ecology*, 215(11), 1373–1384.
- Huntingford, C., Zelazowski, P., and Galbraith, D. (2013). Simulated resilience of tropical rainforests to CO₂-induced climate change. *Nature Geoscience*, *6*, 268–273.
- Iyamuremye, F., Dick, R., and Baham, J. (1996). Organic amendments and phosphorus dynamics: I. Phosphorus chemistry and sorption. *Soil Science*, 161(7), 426–435.
- Jakovac, C. C., Peña-Claros, M., Kuyper, T. W., and Bongers, F. (2015). Loss of secondaryforest resilience by land-use intensification in the Amazon. *Journal of Ecology*, 103(1), 67–77.
- Jansa, J., Finlay, R., Wallander, H., Smith, F., and Smith, S. (2011). Role of mycorrhizal symbioses in phosphorus cycling. In Bunemann, E., Oberson, A., and Frossard, E. (Eds.), *Phosphorus in Action: Biological Processes in Soil Phosphorus Cycling* (Vol. Soil Biology). Amsterdam: Springer.
- Jenny, H. (1941). Factors of Soil Formation. New York: McGraw Hill.
- Jenny, H. (1981). The soil resource-origin and behavior: Ecological studies 37. *Soil Science*, 132(5), 380.
- Jobbagy, E. G., and Jackson, R. B. (2000). The vertical distribution of soil organic carbon and its relation to climate and vegetation. *Ecological Applications*, *10*(2), 423–436.
- John, R., Dalling, J. W., Harms, K. E., Yavitt, J. B., Stallard, R. F., Mirabello, M., Hubbell, S. P. et al. (2007). Soil nutrients influence spatial distributions of tropical tree species. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(3), 864–869.
- Johnson, D. W. (2006). Progressive N limitation in forests: Review and implications for longterm responses to elevated CO₂. *Ecology*, 87(1), 64–75.
- Johnson, A. H., Frizano, J., and Vann, D. R. (2003). Biogeochemical implications of labile phosphorus in forest soils determined by the Hedley fractionation procedure. *Oecologia*, 135(4), 487–499.
- Kaspari, M., Clay, N. A., Lucas, J. A., Revzen, S., Kay, A. D., and Yanoviak, S. P. (2015). Thermal adaptation and phosphorus shape thermal performance in an assemblage of rainforest ants. *Ecology*, 97, 1038–1047.
- Kaspari, M., Wright, S. J., Yavitt, J. B., Harms, K. E., Garcia, M., and Santana, M. (2008). Multiple nutrients limit litterfall and decomposition in a tropical forest. *Ecology Letters* 11, 35–43.
- Keller, A. B., Reed, S. C., Townsend, A. R., and Cleveland, C. C. (2013). Effects of canopy tree species on belowground biogeochemistry in a lowland wet tropical forest. *Soil Biology* and Biochemistry, 58, 61–69.

- Kieft, T. L. (1987). Microbial biomass response to a rapid increase in water potential when dry soil is wetted. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 19(2), 119–126.
- Kitayama, K., and Aiba, S. I. (2002). Ecosystem structure and productivity of tropical rain forests along altitudinal gradients with contrasting soil phosphorus pools on Mount Kinabalu, Borneo. *Journal of Ecology*, *90*(1), 37–51.
- Kusel, K. C., Wagner, T., Trinkwalter, A. S., Gobner, A. S., Baumler, R., and Drake, H. L. (2002). Microbial reduction of Fe(III) and turnover of acetate in Hawaiian soils. *Microbiolial Ecology* 40, 73–81.
- Lal, R. (2009). Soil degradation as a reason for inadequate human nutrition. *Food Security*, *1*, 45–57.
- Lal, R. (2015). Sustainable intensification for adaptation and mitigation of climate change and advancement of food security in Africa. In *Sustainable Intensification to Advance Food Security and Enhance Climate Resilience in Africa* (pp. 3–17). Amsterdam: Springer.
- Lambers, H., Raven, J. A., Shaver, G. R., and Smith, S. E. (2008). Plant nutrient-acquisition strategies change with soil age. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 23(2), 95–103.
- Laurance, W. F., Sayer, J., and Cassman, K. G. (2014). Agricultural expansion and its impacts on tropical nature. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 29, 107–116.
- Lawrence, D., and Schlesinger, W. H. (2001). Changes in soil phosphorus during 200 years of shifting cultivation in Indonesia. *Ecology*, 82, 2769–2780.
- Lewis, S. L., Edwards, D. P., and Galbraith, D. (2015). Increasing human dominance of tropical forests. *Science*, 349, 827–832.
- Lewis, S., Lloyd, J., Sitch, S., Mitchard, E., and Laurance, W. (2009). Changing ecology of tropical forests: Evidence and drivers. *Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics*, 40, 529–549.
- Liptzin, D., and Silver, W. L. (2009). Effects of carbon additions on iron reduction and phosphorus availability in a humid tropical forest soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *41*(8), 1696–1702.
- Liptzin, D., Silver, W. L., and Detto, M. (2011). Temporal dynamics in soil oxygen and greenhouse gases in two humid tropical forests. *Ecosystems*, 14(2), 171–182.
- Lloyd, J., and Farquhar, G. D. (2000). Do slow-growing species and nutrient-stressed plants consistently respond less to elevated CO₂? A clarification of some issues raised by Poorter (1998). *Global Change Biology*, 6, 871–876.
- Lodge, D. J. (1993). Nutrient Cycling by Fungi in Wet Tropical Forests. Retrieved from British Mycological Society Symposium Series (Vol. 19, pp. 37–57). Cambridge University Press.
- Lodge, D. J., Cantrell, S. A., and González, G. (2014). Effects of canopy opening and debris deposition on fungal connectivity, phosphorus movement between litter cohorts and mass loss. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 332, 11–21.
- Lodge, D. J., McDowell, W. H., and McSwiney, C. P. (1994). The importance of nutrient pulses in tropical forests. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 9(10), 384–387.
- López-Hernández, D. (1977). La química del fósforo en suelos ácidos. Caracas: Universidad Central de Venezuela.
- Lougheed, T. (2011). Facing up to phosphorus. Environment, 20-25.
- Lovley, D. R. (1991). Dissimilatory Fe(III) and Mn(IV) reduction. *Microbiology Review*, 55, 259–287.
- Lovley, D. R., Fraga, J. L., Blunt-Harris, E. L., Hayes, L. A., Phillips, E. J. P., and Coates, J. D. (1998). Humic substances as a mediator for microbially catalyzed metal reduction. *Acta Hydrochimica Hydrobiology*, 26, 152–157.
- Luo, Y., Su, B. O., Currie, W. S., Dukes, J. S., Finzi, A., Hartwig, U., Pataki, D. E. et al. (2004). Progressive nitrogen limitation of ecosystem responses to rising atmospheric carbon dioxide. *Bioscience*, 54(8), 731–739.

- Mahowald, N. M., Artaxo, P., Baker, A. R., Jickells, T. D., Okin, G. S., Randerson, J. T., and Townsend, A. R. (2005). Impacts of biomass burning emissions and land use change on Amazonian atmospheric phosphorus cycling and deposition. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 19(4).
- Marichal, R., Mathieu, J., Couteaux, M. M., Mora, P., Roy, J., and Lavelle, P. (2011). Earthworm and microbe response to litter and soils of tropical forest plantations with contrasting C: N: P stoichiometric ratios. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 43, 1528–1535.
- Marklein, A. R., and Houlton, B. Z. (2012). Nitrogen inputs accelerate phosphorus cycling rates across a wide variety of terrestrial ecosystems. *New Phytologist*, 193(3), 696–704.
- Matson, P., Lohse, K. A., and Hall, S. J. (2002). The globalization of nitrogen deposition: Consequences for terrestrial ecosystems. *Ambio*, 31, 113–119.
- Mayor, J. R., Wright, S. J., and Turner, B. L. (2014). Species-specific responses of foliar nutrients to longterm nitrogen and phosphorus additions in a lowland tropical forest. *Journal* of Ecology, 102, 36–44.
- McGill, W. B., and Cole, C. V. (1981). Comparative aspects of cycling of organic C, N, S, and P through soil organic matter. *Geoderma*, *26*, 267–286.
- McGlynn, T. P., Salinas, D. J., Dunn, R. R., Wood, T. E., Lawrence, D., and Clark, D. A. (2007). Phosphorus limits tropical rain forest litter fauna. *Biotropica*, *39*(1), 50–53.
- McGrath, D. A., Comerford, N. B., and Duryea, M. L. (2000). Litter dynamics and monthly fluctuations in soil phosphorus availability in an Amazonian agroforest. *Forest Ecology* and Management, 131(1), 167–181.
- McGrath, D. A., Duryea, M. L., and Cropper, W. P. (2001). Soil phosphorus availability and fine root proliferation in Amazonian agroforests 6 years following forest conversion. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 83(3), 271–284.
- McGroddy, M., Daufresne, T., and Hedin, L. (2004). Scaling of C:N:P stoichiometry in forests worldwide: Implications of terrestrial Redfield-type ratios. *Ecology*, 85, 2390–2401.
- Meir, P., Wood, T. E., Galbraith, D. R., Brando, P. M., Da Costa, A. C., Rowland, L., and Ferreira, L. V. (2015). Threshold responses to soil moisture deficit by trees and soil in tropical rain forests: Insights from field experiments. *BioScience*, 65(9), 882–892.
- Mertz, O. (2002). The relationship between length of fallow and crop yields in shifting cultivation: A rethinking. *Agroforestry Systems*, 55, 149–159.
- Mirmanto, E., Proctor, J., Green, J., Nagy, L., and Suriantata. (1999). Effects of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilization in a lowland evergreen rain forest. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society of London B, 354, 1825–1829.
- Mora, C., Frazier, A. G., Longman, R. J., Dacks, R. S., Walton, M. M., Tong, E. J., Sanchez, J. J. et al. (2013). The projected timing of climate departure from recent variability. *Nature*, 502(7470), 183–187.
- Myers, N., Mittermeier, R. A., Mittermeier, C. G., Da Fonseca, G. A., and Kent, J. (2000). Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature*, 403, 853–858.
- Nasto, M. K., Alvarez-Clare, S., Lekberg, Y., Sullivan, B. W., Townsend, A. R., and Cleveland, C. C. (2014). Interactions among nitrogen fixation and soil phosphorus acquisition strategies in lowland tropical rain forests. *Ecology Letters*, 17(10), 1282–1289.
- Natural Resources Conservation Service (Soil Science Division). (2005). *World Soil Resources* (September 2005 version). U.S. Department of Agriculture, Washington, DC.
- Newbery, D. M., Chuyong, G. B., Green, J. J., Songwe, N. C., Tchuenteu, F., and Zimmermann, L. (2002). Does low phosphorus supply limit seedling establishment and tree growth in groves of ectomycorrhizal trees in a central African rainforest? *New Phytologist*, 156, 297–311.
- Norby, R. J., De Kauwe, M. G., Domingues, T. F., Duursma, R. A., Ellsworth, D. S., Goll, D. S., Lapola, D. M. et al. (2016). Model–data synthesis for the next generation of forest free-air CO₂ enrichment (FACE) experiments. *New Phytologist*, 209(1), 17–28.

- Norby, R. J., Warren, J. M., Iversen, C. M., Medlyn, B. E., and McMurtrie, R. E. (2010). CO₂ enhancement of forest productivity constrained by limited nitrogen availability. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(45), 19368–19373.
- Oberson, A., Friesen, D., Morel, C., and Tiessen, H. (1997). Determination of phosphorus released by chloroform fumigation from microbial biomass in high P sorbing tropical soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 29, 1579–1583.
- Okin, G. S., Mahowald, N., Chadwick, O. A., and Artaxo, P. (2004). Impact of desert dust on the biogeochemistry of phosphorus in terrestrial ecosystems. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, *18*.
- Olander, L. P., and Vitousek, P. M. (2004). Biological and geochemical sinks for phosphorus in soil from a wet tropical forest. *Ecosystems*, 7, 404–419.
- Olsson, P. A., Jakobsen, I., and Wallander, H. (2003). Foraging and resource allocation strategies of mycorrhizal fungi in a patchy environment. *Mycorrhizal Ecology* (pp. 93–115). Amsterdam: Springer.
- Palm, C., Sanchez, P., Ahamed, S., and Awiti, A. (2007). Soils: A contemporary perspective. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 32, 99–129.
- Pan, Y., Birdsey, R., Phillips, O., and Jackson, R. (2013). The structure, distribution, and biomass of the world's forests. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 44, 593–622.
- Paoli, G. D., Curran, L. M., and Zak, D. R. (2005). Phosphorus efficiency of Bornean rain forest productivity: Evidence against the unimodal efficiency hypothesis. *Ecology*, 86, 1548–1561.
- Parfitt, R. L. (1978). Anion adsorption by soils and soil materials. Advances in Agronomy, 30, 50.
- Parfitt, R. L., Atkinson, R. J., and Smart, R. S. C. (1975). The mechanism of phosphate fixation by iron oxides. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 39(5), 837–841.
- Peltzer, D. A., Wardle, D. A., Allison, V. J., Baisden, W. T., Bardgett, R. D., Chadwick, O. A., Condron, L. M. et al. (2010). Understanding ecosystem retrogression. *Ecological Monographs*, 80, 509–529.
- Peñuelas, J., Poulter, B., Sardans, J., Ciais, P., van der Velde, M., Bopp, L., Boucher, O. et al. (2013). Human-induced nitrogen–phosphorus imbalances alter natural and managed ecosystems across the globe. *Nature Communications*, 4.
- Peñuelas, J., Sardans, J., Rivas-Ubach, A., and Janssens, I. A. (2012). The human-induced imbalance between C, N and P in Earth's life system. *Global Change Biology*, 18(1), 3–6.
- Perfecto, I., and Vandermeer, J. (1993). Distribution and turnover rate of a population of *Atta cephalotes* in a tropical rain forest in Costa Rica. *Biotropica*, 25, 316–321.
- Pett-Ridge, J. (2009). Contributions of dust to phosphorus cycling in tropical forests of the Luquillo Mountains, Puerto Rico. *Biogeochemistry*, 94(1), 63–80.
- Pett-Ridge, J., and Firestone, M. K. (2005). Redox fluctuation structures microbial communities in a wet tropical soil. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(11), 6998–7007.
- Piao, S., Sitch, S., and Ciais, P. (2013). Evaluation of terrestrial carbon cycle models for their response to climate variability and to CO₂ trends. *Global Change Biology*, 19, 2117–2132.
- Ponnamperuma, F. N., Tianco, E. M., and Loy, T. (1967). Redox equilibria in flooded soils: I. The iron hydroxide systems. *Soil Science 103*, 374–382.
- Porder, S., Vitousek, P. M., Chadwick, O. A., Chamberlain, C. P., and Hilley, G. E. (2007). Uplift, erosion, and phosphorus limitation in terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecosystems*, 10(1), 159–171.
- Powers, J. S., and Peréz-Aviles, D. (2013). Edaphic factors are a more important control on surface fine roots than stand age in secondary tropical dry forests. *Biotropica*, 45(1), 1–9.

- Pregitzer, K. S., Laskowski, M. J., Burton, A. J., Lessard, V. C., and Zak, D. R. (1998). Variation in sugar maple root respiration with root diameter and soil depth. *Tree Physiology*, 18(10), 665–670.
- Quesada, C. A., Lloyd, J., Schwarz, M., Patiño, S., Baker, T. R., Czimczik, C., Fyllas, N. M. et al. (2010). Variations in chemical and physical properties of Amazon forest soils in relation to their genesis. *Biogeosciences*, 7, 1515–1541.
- Randerson, J. (2013). Climate science: Global warming and tropical carbon. *Nature*, 494, 319–320.
- Reed, S. C., Cleveland, C. C., and Townsend, A. R. (2007). Controls over leaf litter and soil nitrogen fixation in two lowland tropical rain forests. *Biotropica*, *39*, 585–592.
- Reed, S. C., Cleveland, C. C., and Townsend, A. R. (2008). Tree species control rates of freeliving nitrogen fixation in a tropical rain forest. *Ecology*, 89(10), 2924–2934.
- Reed, S., Townsend, A., Taylor, P., and Cleveland, C. (2011a). Phosphorus cycling in tropical forests growing on highly weathered soils. *Phosphorus in Action* (pp. 339–369). Amsterdam: Springer.
- Reed, S., Vitousek, P., and Cleveland, C. (2011b). Are patterns in nutrient limitation belowground consistent with those aboveground: Results from a 4 million year chronosequence. *Biogeochemistry*, 106, 323–336.
- Reed, S., Cleveland, C., and Townsend, A. (2011c). Functional ecology of free-living nitrogen fixation: A contemporary perspective. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*, 42, 489–512.
- Reed, S. C., Cleveland, C. C., and Townsend, A. R. (2013). Relationships among phosphorus, molybdenum and free-living nitrogen fixation in tropical rain forests: Results from observational and experimental analyses. *Biogeochemistry*, 114(1–3), 135–147.
- Reed, S. C., Townsend, A. R., Davidson, E. A., and Cleveland, C. C. (2012). Stoichiometric patterns in foliar nutrient resorption across multiple scales. *New Phytologist*, 196(1), 173–1801.
- Reed, S., Yang, X., and Thornton, P. (2015). Incorporating phosphorus cycling into global modeling efforts: A worthwhile, tractable endeavor. *New Phytologist Tansley Insights*, 208, 324–329.
- Richardson, A. E., and Simpson, R. J. (2011). Soil microorganisms mediating phosphorus availability update on microbial phosphorus. *Plant Physiology*, 156, 989–996.
- Richter, D. D., Allen, H. L., Li, J., Markewitz, D., and Raikes, J. (2006). Bioavailability of slowly cycling soil phosphorus: Major restructuring of soil P fractions over four decades in an aggrading forest. *Oecologia*, 150(2), 259–271.
- Richter, D. D., and Babbar, L. (1991). Soil Diversity in the Tropics. *Advances in Ecological Research*, *21*, 315–389.
- Richter, D. D., Saplaco, S. R., and Nowak, P. (1985). Watershed management problems in humid tropical uplands. *Nature and Resources (UNESCO)*, 21, 10–21.
- Robinson, C. H., Michelsen, A., Lee, J. A., Whitehead, S. J., Callaghan, T. V., Press, M. C., and Jonasson, S. (1997). Elevated atmospheric CO₂ affects decomposition of *Festuca vivipara* (L.) Sm. litter and roots in experiments simulating environmental change in two contrasting arctic ecosystems. *Global Change Biology*, 3(1), 37–49.
- Sanchez, P. (1976). *Properties and Management of Soils in the Tropics*. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Sanchez, P. A. (2002). Soil Fertility and Hunger in Africa. Science, 295, 2019–2020.
- Sanchez, P. A., and Buol, S. W. (1975). Soils of the tropics and the world food crisis. *Science*, *188*, 598–603.
- Sanchez, P. A., and Swaminathan, M. S. (2005). Hunger in Africa: The link between unhealthy people and unhealthy soils. *Lancet*, 365, 442–444.
- Santiago, L. S., Wright, S. J., Harms, K. E., Yavitt, J. B., Korine, C., M. N. Garcia, and Turner, B. L. (2012). Tropical tree seedling growth responses to nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium addition. *Journal of Ecology*, 100, 309–316.

- Sayer, E. J., Sutcliffe, L. M., Ross, R. I., and Tanner, E. V. (2010). Arthropod abundance and diversity in a lowland tropical forest floor in Panama: The role of habitat space vs. nutrient concentrations. *Biotropica*, 42, 194–200.
- Sayer, E. J., Wright, S. J., Tanner, E. V., Yavitt, J. B., Harms, K. E., Powers, J. S., and Turner, B. L. (2012). Variable responses of lowland tropical forest nutrient status to fertilization and litter manipulation. *Ecosystems*, 15, 387–400.
- Scatena, F., and Lugo, A. (1995). Geomorphology, disturbance, and the soil and vegetation of two subtropical wet steepland watersheds of Puerto Rico. *Geomorphology* 13, 199–213.
- Schipper, W. (2014). Phosphorus: Too big to fail. *European Journal of Inorganic Chemistry* 10, 1567–1571.
- Schwertmann, U., and Taylor, R. M. (1977). Iron oxides. In Dixon, J. B., and Weed, S. B. (Eds.), *Minerals in Soil Environments*. Madison, WI: Soil Science Society of America.
- Sharpley, A. N., Rekolainen, S., Tunney, H., Carton, O. T., Brookes, P. C., and Johnston, A. E. (1997). Phosphorus in agriculture and its environmental implications. *Phosphorus Loss from Soil to Water*. Wexford: CAB International.
- Shin, H. et al. (2005). Complex regulation of Arabidopsis AGR1/PIN2-mediated root gravitropic response and basipetal auxin transport by cantharidin-sensitive protein phosphatases. *The Plant Journal* 42, 188–200.
- Silver, W. L. (1994). Is nutrient availability related to plant nutrient use in humid tropical forests? *Oecologia*, 98(3–4), 336–343.
- Silver, W. L. (1998a). The potential effects of elevated CO₂ and climate change on tropical forest soils and biogeochemical cycling. *Climatic Change*, *39*, 337–361.
- Silver, W. L. (1998b). The potential effects of elevated CO₂ and climate change on tropical forest soils and biogeochemical cycling. In *Potential Impacts of Climate Change on Tropical Forest Ecosystems* (pp. 197–221). Netherlands: Springer.
- Silver, W. H., Lugo, A. E., and Keller, M. (1999). Soil oxygen availability and biogeochemistry along rainfall and topographic gradients in upland wet tropical forest soils. *Biogeochemistry*, 44, 301–328.
- Sims, J. T., and Sharpley, A. N. (2005). *Phosphorus: Agriculture and the Environment*. Madison, WI: American Society of Agronomy.
- Singh, B., and Gilkes, R. (1991). Phosphorus sorption in relation to soil properties for the major soil types of south-western Australia. *Soil Research*, 29(5), 603–618.
- Singh, J. S., Raghubanshi, A. S., Singh, R. S., and Srivastava, S. C. (1989). Microbial biomass acts as a source of plant nutrients in dry tropical forest and savanna. *Nature*, 338(6215), 499–500.
- Smith, W. K., Cleveland, C. C., Reed, S. C., and Running, S. W. (2014). Agricultural conversion without external water and nutrient inputs reduces terrestrial vegetation productivity. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 41(2), 449–455.
- Smith, W. K., Reed, S. C., Cleveland, C. C., Ballantyne, A. P., Anderegg, W. R., Wieder, W. R., Liu, Y. Y., and Running, S. W. (2015). Large divergence of satellite and Earth system model estimates of global terrestrial CO₂ fertilization. *Nature Climate Change*, 6, 306–310.
- Smyth, T., and Sanchez, P. (1982). Phosphate rock dissolution and availability in Cerrado soils as affected by phosphorus sorption capacity. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 46(2), 339–345.
- Soil Survey Staff. (1998). Keys to soil taxonomy (326 pp.). Washington, DC: Natural Resources Conservation Service.
- Sollins, P., Robertson, G., and Uehara, G. (1988). Nutrient mobility in variable- and permanentcharge soils. *Biogeochemistry* 6, 181–199.
- Srivastava, S. C. (1997). Microbial contribution to extractable N and P after air-drying of dry tropical soils. *Biol Fertil Soils*, 26, 31–34.
- Stark, N. M., and Jordan, C. F. (1978). Nutrient retention by the root mat of an Amazonian rain forest. *Ecology*, 58, 434–437.

- Steidinger, B. S., Turner, B. L., Corrales, A., and Dalling, J. W. (2015). Variability in potential to exploit different soil organic phosphorus compounds among tropical montane tree species. *Functional Ecology*, 29(1), 121–130.
- Swap, R., Garstang, M., Greco, S., Talbot, R., and Kallberg, P. (1992). Saharan dust in the Amazon Basin. *Tellus*, 44, 133–149.
- Tang, J., Baldocchi, D. D., and Xu, L. (2005). Tree photosynthesis modulates soil respiration on a diurnal time scale. *Global Change Biology*, 11(8), 1298–1304.
- Tanner, E. V. J., Vitousek, P. M., and Cuevas, E. (1998). Experimental investigation of nutrient limitation of forest growth on wet tropical mountains. *Ecology*, 79, 10–22.
- Tarnocai, C., Canadell, J., Schuur, E., Kuhry, P., Mazhitova, G., and Zimov, S. (2009). Soil organic carbon pools in the northern circumpolar permafrost region. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 23(2).
- Theodorou, M., and Plaxton, W. (1996). Metabolic adaptations of plant respiration to nutritional phosphate deprivation. *Plant Physiology*, 101, 339–344.
- Thompson, A., Chadwick, O. A., Rancourt, D. G., and Chorover, J. (2006). Iron-oxide crystallinity increases during soil redox oscillations. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 70(7), 1710–1727.
- Tiessen, H. (2001). *Phosphorus Availability in the Environment*. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Tiessen, H. (2005). Phosphorus dynamics in tropical soils. In, Sims, J., and Sharpley, A. (Eds.) *Phosphorus: Agriculture and the Environment* (pp. 253–262). Madison, WI: American Society Agronomy.
- Tiessen, H., Stewart, J. W. B., and Cole, C. V. (1984). Pathways of phosphorus transformations in soils of differing pedogenesis. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 48(4), 853–858.
- Tiessen, H., Stewart, J. W. B., and Oberson, A. (1994). Innovative soil phosphorus availability indices: Assessing organic phosphorus. *Soil Testing: Prospects for Improving Nutrient Recommendations*, 143–162.
- Tilman, D., Cassman, K. G., Matson, P. A., Naylor, R., and Polasky, S. (2002). Agricultural sustainability and intensive production practices. *Nature*, 418, 671–677.
- Townsend, A. R., Asner, G. P., and Cleveland, C. C. (2008). The biogeochemical heterogeneity of tropical forests. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 23(8), 424–431.
- Townsend, A. R., Cleveland, C. C., Houlton, B. Z., Alden, C. B., and White, J. W. (2011). Multi-element regulation of the tropical forest carbon cycle. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 9(1), 9–17.
- Trenbath, B. R., Conway, G. R., and Craig, I. A. (1990). Threats to sustainability in intensified agricultural systems: Analysis and implications for management. *Agroecology* (pp. 337–365). New York: Springer.
- Treseder, K. K., and Vitousek, P. M. (2001). Effects of soil nutrient availability on investment in acquisition of N and P in Hawaiian rain forests. *Ecology*, 82(4), 946–954.
- Tsui, C.-C., Chen, Z.-S., and Hsieh, C.-F. (2004). Relationships between soil properties and slope position in a lowland rain forest of southern Taiwan. *Geoderma*, *123*(1), 131–142.
- Turner, B. L., Driessen, J. P., Haygarth, P. M., and Mckelvie, I. D. (2003). Potential contribution of lysed bacterial cells to phosphorus solubilisation in two rewetted Australian pasture soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 35(1), 187–189.
- Turner, B. L., and Haygarth, P. M. (2001). Biogeochemistry: Phosphorus solubilization in rewetted soils. *Nature*, 411(6835), 258.
- Turner, B. L., Lambers, H., Condron, L. M., Cramer, M. D., Leake, J. R., Richardson, A. E., and Smith, S. E. (2013a). Soil microbial biomass and the fate of phosphorus during long-term ecosystem development. *Plant and Soil*, 367(1–2), 225–234.
- Turner, B. L., and Wright, S. J. (2014). The response of microbial biomass and hydrolytic enzymes to a decade of nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium addition in a lowland tropical rain forest. *Biogeochemistry 117*(1), 115–130.

- Turner, B. L., Yavitt, J. B., Harms, K. E., Garcia, M. N., Romero, T. E., and Wright, S. J. (2013b). Seasonal changes and treatment effects on soil inorganic nutrients following a decade of fertilization in a lowland tropical forest. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 77(4), 1357–1369.
- Uehara, G., and Gillman, G. (1981). *The Mineralogy, Chemistry, and Physics of Tropical Soils* with Variable Charge Clays. Boulder: Westview Press.
- Uhde-Stone, C., Gilbert, G., Johnson, J. M., Litjens, R., Zinn, K. E., Temple, S. J., Vance, C. P., and Allan, D. L. (2003). Acclimation of white lupin to phosphorus deficiency involves enhanced expression of genes related to organic acid metabolism. *Plant and Soil*, 248(1–2), 99–116.
- Ulrich, A. E., Stauffacher, M., Krutli, P., Schnug, E., and Frossard, E. (2013). Tackling the phosphorus challenge: Time for reflection on three key limitations. *Environmental Development*, *8*, 137–144.
- Uriarte, M., Turner, B. L., Thompson, J., and Zimmerman, J. K. (2015) Linking spatial patterns of leaf litterfall and soil nutrients in a tropical forest: A neighborhood approach. *Ecological Applications*, 25(7), 2022–2034.
- U.S. Department of Energy. (2012). *Research Priorities for Tropical Ecosystems Under Climate Change Workshop Report*. Available at http://science.energy.gov/ber/.
- Vance, C. P., Uhde-Stone, C., and Allan, D. L. (2003). Phosphorus acquisition and use: Critical adaptations by plants for securing a nonrenewable resource. *New Phytologist*, 157(3), 423–447.
- Vandecar, K. L., Lawrence, D., and Clark, D. (2011). Phosphorus sorption dynamics of anion exchange resin membranes in tropical rain forest soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 75(4), 1520–1529.
- Vandecar, K. L., Lawrence, D., Wood, T., Oberbauer, S. F., Das, R., Tully, K., and Schwendenmann, L. (2009). Biotic and abiotic controls on diurnal fluctuations in labile soil phosphorus of a wet tropical forest. *Ecology*, 90(9), 2547–2555.
- Vincent, A. G., Turner, B. L., and Tanner, E. V. J. (2010). Soil organic phosphorus dynamics following perturbation of litter cycling in a tropical moist forest. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 61, 48–57.
- Vira, B., Wildburger, C., and Mansourian, S. (2015). Forests, Trees, and Landscapes for Food Security and Nutrition. A Global Assessment Report. Vienna: Open Book Publishers.
- Vitousek, P. M. (1984). Litterfall, nutrient cycling, and nutrient limitation in tropical forests. *Ecology*, 65, 285–298.
- Vitousek, P. (2004). *Nutrient Cycling and Limitation: Hawai'i as a Model System*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Vitousek, P., Chadwick, O., Matson, P., Allison, S., Derry, L., Kettley, L., Luers, A. et al. (2003). Erosion and the rejuvenation of weathering-derived nutrient supply in an old tropical landscape. *Ecosystems*, 6(8), 762–772.
- Vitousek, P. M., and Farrington, H. (1997). Nutrient limitation and soil development: Experimental test of a biogeochemical theory. *Biogeochemistry*, *37*, 63–75.
- Vitousek, P. M., Ladefoged, T. N., Kirch, P. V., Hartshorn, A. S., Graves, M. W., Hotchkiss, S. C., and Chadwick, O. A. (2004). Soils, agriculture, and society in precontact Hawaii. *Science*, 304, 1665–1669.
- Vitousek, P. M., Naylor, R., Crews, T., David, M. B., Drinkwater, L. E., Holland, E., Johnes, P. J. et al. (2009). Nutrient imbalances in agricultural development. *Science*, 324(5934), 1519.
- Vitousek, P. M., Porder, S., Houlton, B. Z., and Chadwick, O. A. (2010). Terrestrial phosphorus limitation: Mechanisms, implications, and nitrogen–phosphorus interactions. *Ecological Applications*, 20, 5–15.
- Walker, T. (1965). The Significance of Phosphorus in Pedogenesis. Lincoln: Lincoln College.

- Walker, T. W., and Syers, J. K. (1976). The fate of phosporus during pedogenesis. *Geoderma*, *15*, 1–19.
- Walker, A. P., Beckerman, A. P., Gu, L., Kattge, J., Cernusak, L. A., Domingues, T. F., Woodward, F. I. et al. (2014). The relationship of leaf photosynthetic traits–Vcmax and Jmax–to leaf nitrogen, leaf phosphorus, and specific leaf area: A meta-analysis and modeling study. *Ecology and Evolution*, 4(16), 3218–3235.
- Wardle, D. A., Walker, L. R., and Bardgett, R. D. (2004). Ecosystem properties and forest decline in contrasting long-term chronosequences. *Science*, 305, 509–513.
- Waring, B. G., Álvarez-Cansino, L., Barry, K. E., Becklund, K. K., Dale, S., Gei, M. G., Keller, A. B. et al. (2015). Pervasive and strong effects of plants on soil chemistry: A metaanalysis of individual plant 'Zinke' effects. *Proc. R. Soc. B*, 282.
- Wassen, M., Venterink, H., Lapshina, E., and Tanneberger, F. (2005). Endangered plants persist under phosphorus limitation. *Nature* 437, 547–550.
- Webb, L. J., Tracey, J. G., and Williams, W. T. (1972). Regeneration and pattern in the subtropical rainforest. *Journal of Ecology* 60, 675–695.
- Werner, F. A., and Homeier, J. (2015). Is tropical montane forest heterogeneity promoted by a resource-driven feedback cycle? Evidence from nutrient relations, herbivory and litter decomposition along a topographical gradient. *Functional Ecology*, 29(3), 430–440.
- White, G., and Zelazny, L. (1986). Charge properties of soil colloids. In Sparks, D. (Ed.), Soil Physical Chemistry (pp. 39–81). Boca Raton, FL: CRC.
- White, A. F., Blum, A. E., Schulz, M. S., Vivit, D. V., Stonestrom, D. A., Larsen, M., and Eberl, D. (1998). Chemical weathering in a tropical watershed, Luquillo Mountains, Puerto Rico: I. Long-term versus short-term weathering fluxes. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 62, 209–226.
- Wieder, W., Cleveland, C., and Townsend, A. (2009). Controls over leaf litter decomposition in wet tropical forests. *Ecology* 90, 3333–3341.
- Withers, P. J. A., van Dijk, K. C., Neset, T.-S. S., Nesme, T., Oenema, O., Rubæk, G. H., Schoumans, O. F., Smit, B., and Pellerin, S. (2015). Stewardship to tackle global phosphorus inefficiency: The case of Europe. *Ambio*, 44, 193–206.
- Wood, T. E., Cavaleri, M. A., and Reed, S. C. (2012). Tropical forest carbon balance in a warmer world: A critical review spanning microbial-to ecosystem-scale processes. *Biological Reviews*, 87(4), 912–927.
- Wood, T. E., Detto, M., and Silver, W. L. (2013). Sensitivity of soil respiration to variability in soil moisture and temperature in a humid tropical forest. *PloS One*, 8(12), e80965.
- Wood, T. E., and Lawrence, D. (2008). No short-term change in soil properties following four-fold litter addition in a Costa Rican rain forest. *Plant and Soil*, 307(1–2), 113–122.
- Wood, T. E., Lawrence, D., and Clark, D. A. (2006). Determinants of leaf litter nutrient cycling in a tropical rain forest: Soil fertility versus topography. *Ecosystems*, 9(5), 700–710.
- Wood, T. E., Lawrence, D., and Wells, J. A. (2011). Inter-specific variation in foliar nutrients and resorption of nine canopy-tree species in a secondary neotropical rain forest. *Biotropica*, 43(5), 544–551.
- Wood, T. E., Matthews, D., Vandecar, K., and Lawrence, D. (2016). Short-term variability in labile soil phosphorus is positively related to soil moisture in a humid tropical forest in Puerto Rico. *Biogeochemistry*, 127(1), 35–43.
- Wood, T. E., and Silver, W. L. (2012). Strong spatial variability in trace gasdynamics following experimental drought in a humid tropical forest. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 26(3).
- Wright, S. J., Yavitt, J. B., Wurzburger, N., Turner, B. L., Tanner, E. V. J., Sayer, E. J., Santiago, L. S. et al. (2011). Potassium, phosphorus, or nitrogen limit root allocation, tree growth, or litter production in a lowland tropical forest. *Ecology*, 92(8), 1616–1625.
- Wurzburger, N., Bellenger, J. P., Kraepiel, A. M., and Hedin, L. O. (2012). Molybdenum and phosphorus interact to constrain asymbiotic nitrogen fixation in tropical forests. *PloS One*, 7(3), e33710.

- Wurzburger, N., and Wright, S. J. (2015). Fine root responses to fertilization reveal multiple nutrient limitation in a lowland tropical forest. *Ecology*, 2137–2146.
- Yang, X., and Post, W. M. (2011). Phosphorus transformations as a function of pedogenesis: A synthesis of soil phosphorus data using Hedley fractionation method. *Biogeosciences*, 8(10), 2907–2916.
- Yang, X., Thornton, P., Ricciuto, D., and Post, W. (2014). The role of phosphorus dynamics in tropical forests—A modeling study using CLM-CNP. *Biogeosciences*, 11(6), 1667–1681.
- Yuan, Z., and Chen, H. Y. (2009). Global-scale patterns of nutrient resorption associated with latitude, temperature and precipitation. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 18(1), 11–18.
- Yuste, J. C., Ma, S., and Baldocchi, D. D. (2010). Plant-soil interactions and acclimation to temperature of microbial-mediated soil respiration may affect predictions of soil CO₂ efflux. *Biogeochemistry*, 98(1–3), 127–138.
- Zemunik, G., Turner, B. L., Lambers, H., and Laliberté, E. (2015). Diversity of plant nutrient-acquisition strategies increases during long-term ecosystem development. *Nature Plants, 1*, 15050. Available at http://www.nature.com/articles/nplants201550 -supplementary-information.
- Zinke, P. J. (1962). The pattern of influence of individual forest trees on soil properties. *Ecology*, *43*, 130–133.